CALENDAR

OF

STATE PAPERS,

DOMESTIC SERIES,

ELIZABETH,
1601-1603;

WITH ADDENDA,

1547-1565.

a2



CALENDAR

STATE PAPERS,

DOMESTIC SERIES,

OF THE REIGN OF

ELIZABETH,
1601-1603;

WITH ADDENDA. -
/‘/'\’ .
1547-1565;.

v
\

PRESERVED IN

e
hN

HER MAJESTY’S PUBLIC RECORD OE:TT@E;

NS N N TS N

EDITED BY

MARY ANNE EVERETT GREEN,
Auilor of * The Lives of the Princesses of England,” &e.

UNDER THE DIRECTION OF THE MASTER OF THE ROLLS, AND WITH THE BANCIION OF
HEE MAJESTY’S SECRETARY OF STATE FOR THE HOME DEPARTMENT,

APABINAARASAABASANS LI

. LONDON:
LONGMAN & CO., axp TRUBNER & CO., PATERNOSTER ROW ;
ALSO BY
PARKER & CO., OXFORD ; axp MACMILLAN & CO., CAMBRIDGE;
A. & C. BLACK, EDINBURGH ; axp A. THOM, DUBLIN,

1870.



PRINTED CALENDARS.

TrEe Editors of Calendars published under the direction
of the Master of the Rolls are ‘requested to confine
any Prefatory Remarks they may consider necessary to
prefix to their Volumes to an explanation of the Papers
therein contained.

(Signed) RoMiryy.

13th June 1867.

24579, o



CONTENTS OF THIS VOLUME

Pice
Pruracs - - - - - - - - vii
Carexpar, 1601 to 1603 - - - - - 1
AppENDa, 1547-1565 - ; ; ; . - 320
GexgrAL INDEX - - - - - - - 579
ErraTa - - - - - - . - =19



PREFACE.

TaE present volume completes the regular series of
Domestic State Papers of the reign of Queen Elizabeth
from March 1601 to March 1603. Among the noticeable
papers are those detfailing the proceedings taken against
the adherents of the late Earl of Essex. They elicit
much curious information as to the motives and the
modus operandi of his wild scheme to attain his own ends
by putting compulsion on the Queen. The chronological
notes of the whole proceedings relating to that rebellion,
from 8th February to August 1601, calendared on pp. 88,
89, are worthy of attention.

Then follow many details of the controversy between
the Jesuits in England and the secular priests, the appeal
of the latter to the Papal authority, and the distinet
recognition by the Pope, Clement VIILI., that the juris-
diction of the Jesuits was to be confined to their own
order, and to the pupils from their seminaries who had
come over to England (p. 258). An atterapt was made
to induce the English Government to recognise a dis-
tinction, in its persecuting edicts, between those two
classes of priests, on the ground that the seculars con-
demned the violent practices of the Jesuits to procure
the invasion of the kingdom and murder of the Queen.
But whilst a difference was acknowledged between the
elder priests, who were educated in England whilst still
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Catholic, and thoese who had their cducation in seminaries
supported by foreign princes, and surrounded by influences
antagonistic to a Protestant Queen and country, the plea
was refused, on the ground that even these Iatter laboured
to withdraw the Queen’s suhjeets from their allegiance
and knit them to the Pope (p. 261).

Next come minute details of the last illness and death
of Queen Elizabeth.  The legend that a ring was sent
by the Tarl of Essex {o the Qucen, through the Countess
of Nottingham, as a token of submission and plea for
mercy, but detained, and the detention confessed by the
Countess on her death-bed, may be thought to receive
confirmation from the fact that the Queen is twice said
to have bheen extremely moved by the death of the
Countess, not resting at nights, and so irritable that
none of the Court but Cecil dared to approach her
(pp- 298, 301).

The papers in the latter part of the volume consist of
Addenda to the Domestic Papers of Edward VI., Mary,
and Elizabeth, which have been discovered since the
Calendar of the late Mr. Lemon, the printing of which
commenced as carly as 1848, was put to press. They
include especially a large number of papers relating to
the Borders between England and Scotland, which at that
time formed a separate series of papers, bur which are
now distributed, according to the nature of their contents,
between the Domestic and Foreign series of State Papers.
Also a similar collection of papers, formerly constituting
a separate class, relating to the Channel Islands.

During the reign of Edward VI. the details of the
rough wooing by the English Government, under Pro-
tector Somerset, of the young Queen Mary of Scotland
for their King, styled in the parlance of the times, ¢ the

Godly purpose,” are numerouws and valuable.
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There is also a noteworthy series of returns made
from the hundred of Kerry, Cornwall, of inventories from
the parish churches, detailing the vestments and other
appliances for publie worship found in each (p. 398).

The Addenda of Mary’s reign are not numerous.
Among them may be noted, the fragment of a letter from
Lady Jane Grey as Queen (p. 429), a letter from an
Ttalian secretary of the Queen to her truant husband,
Philip II., of regret and submission, and a few papers
illustrative of the change of religion (pp. 477, 478).

The Addenda of Elizabeth in the present volume only
extend to the first six years of her reign. A pardon
granted to Sir Ralph Chamberlain in 1560 records curions
particulars of the swrender of Calais in 1558 (p. 562).
Several papers relate to the restoration of religion, the
study of theology in the universities, as much encouraged
by the Queen (p. 505), the rigid enforcement of the Act
of Uniformity (pp. 510, 526), and the treatment of the
recusants, or those who refused compliance with it, of the
principal of whom a list is given, with their characters,
&e. (pp. 521-524). The volume concludes with a list of
the numerous livings vacant in the several dioceses of
England and Wales, the cause of the vacancies being
generally the poverty of the livings. The record gives
their value, and in some instances the names of those
who hold the patronage.

The Addenda yet remaining to be calendared will
occupy two more volumes.

100, Gower Street, M. A E. G
October 6, 1870.




DOMESTIC PAPERS.

QUEEN ELIZABETH,

Vor. CCLXXIX. MARCH—JUNE, 1601.

1601.

March 1. 1. Thomas Payne, Mayor of Plymouth, and his Brethren to

Plymouth. Secretary Cecil. Two ships have arrived, one from the coast of
Spain, and the other from the Groyne, and we eunclose their report.
We would remind you of the weakness and wants of the fort here,
and we hope care will be had as to whom the government of it is
granted to. We are naked and unable, upon a sudden assault, to
repulse such a resolute enemy as will attempt us. If it may not be
granted to ourselves, as we desire, we pray that we may have a man
whom we could love, and who could command us in case of necessity ;
and that he may be able to command 1,000 men to ride to our help
on a sudden, or we should be lost if assailed. [1 page.]

March 2. 2. Thos. Neville, Master, and eight Fellows of Trinity College,
Trinity College, Cambridge, to Secretary Cecil. The practices of covetous persons,
Cambridge.  gaily intruding upon college possessions, under colour of conceal-
ments and pretended titles, have made us bold from time to time
to choose some personage of honour to patronise our poor col-
lege (being of the Queen’s father’'s most royal foundation). This
office, as it pleased your father during his life to vouchsafe, so out of
our firm opinions of your honourable disposition for maintenance of
virbue and learning, we present you, under our common seal, the
same more troublesome than worthy office, craving your acceptation
thereof. [1 page.]

March 2. 3. Examination of Sir Gelly Merrick before Lords Egerton, Buck-
hurst, and Nottingham, and Secretary Cecil. Was in the court-yard
at Essex House on Sunday, Feb. 8, when the Lords came from Her
Majesty. Was commanded by the Earl of Essex to look to his
house while he went into London, and let no man go in or out till
his return. After the Earl’s return, helped to defend the house
until the Earl yielded. On Saturday, the 7th, gave Bucke 40s.,
part of a former debt, for scouring and oiling muskets, and saw
above 100 muskets in Essex House at that time. [1 page]

March 2. 4. Like examination of Hen. Cuffe. 'When the Earl of Essex was
in the Lord Keeper’s house, between March and Christmas, it was
resolved by the Earl of Southampton, Sir Christ. Blount, Sir Chas.
Danvers, Sir Gelly Merrick, and others, that the Earl should escape,

A
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and either take sea at Portsmouth or make for Wales; but after
they had so resolved, they broke it off again, thinking it was not fit
to proceed in that manner.

While the Earl was there, Sir Hen. Bromley came to examinate
at York House, and protested his affection to the Earl, and said that
religion and the common good depended on him. Finding Sir Henry
so forward, never moved him to assist the Earl, Sir Henry Neville,
shortly after coming out of France, was desirous that the Karl
should hold a good opinion of him, and understanding that divers
came to visit him, came to Kssex House, and conferred with the
Earl in his study privately for an hour. The Earl brought him
down to the back gate, where they parted. Had been sent before
to Sir Henry by the Earl, to tell him that divers exceptions were
taken at Court against his service in France. After Sir Henry had
been at Court, he told examinate he had been generously used, and
his services well accepted. Thinks the actions of the Earl traitorous,
and cannot justify them. Said on hearing the Proclamation that he
was a traitor, The declaration of Sir Hen. Neville, of 2 March, is in
substance true. A week before the Earl’s rising, Sir Hen. Bromley
signified his great affection, and offered him service, saying that the
danger of the Earl was the danger of them all, and wished that they
had had him beyond Severn, as they would [have kept] him safe
enouch., [3 pages.]

1601.

March 2. 5. Like examination of Hen. Cuffe. 'The matter concerning the
Eail of Essex’s writing to Scotland was debated last Christmas, by
the Earls of Essex and Southampton, Sir Chas. Danvers, and
examinate, and the minute of the letter agreed on. John Littleton
was acquainted with this council. Was employed to meet Sir
Charles Danvers this last summer at Oxford; carried a letter to
him from the Earl, when they two agreed that Sir Charles should
go into Ircland and deal with Lord Montjoy to come over himself,
or if he could not, to write a letter to the Ear] of Essex, which he
might show to the Queen, concurring in finding fault with the
present Government ; but with this condition, that it should not
be showed her until the Earl of Essex had come to her presence.
For this purpose he was to send over divers captains and men of
quality, that by their being at the Court beforchand, my Lord and his
company coming to Court might not be resisted. The Earl expected
that when he came to Court, he should come in such peace as a dog
should not wag his tongue against him. Essex made a project that
Sir Wm. Russell should suceeed Sir Walter Raleigh as captain of
the guard, and Sir Hen. Neville, or Mr. Bodley Sir Robt. Cecil as
secretary.

It was further agreed that Sir Charles should send John Littleton
to London to the Earl of Essex, to be sent over into the Low Coun-
tries for the Earl of Southampton, who then was newly come out of
Ireland. First heard from Sir Gelly Merrick, long before, that Lord
Montjoy had sent to the King of Scots by Hen. Lea. This he told
to show that Lord Montjoy had not dealt coldly with the Earl of
Essex.  Norton, the bookseller, carried the Earls letter to the
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Secottish King, receiving it of Lord Willoughby at Berwick. One
part of the letter persuaded the Earl of Marr to come to London by
the 1st of February. Essex wrote with his own hand instructions
to the Earl of Marr, which he burnt. Knew that the King of Scots
returned his answer in disguised words, and that the Earl carried it
about him in a black purse. Often leard that Anthony Bacon was
an agent between the Earl and the King of Scots.  [4 pages.]

6. Examination of Capt. Gregory Rigges. On Sunday, 8§ Feb.,
being at the sermon in the church in the middle of Fenchurch
Street, there came one riding as fast as he could to the church
doors, and sent one into the chureh to Mrs. Smythe, who spake
with her in her pew; when the party came back to him, he
alighted and went into the chureh, and into the pew of Mrs. Smythe,
the sheriff’s wife, she being there alone. After he had spoken with
her, he came forth again, and rode up the street and came back
L of an hour after, galloping as before, but Mrs. Smythe remained
in the church until the sermon was ended. Thinks the gentleman
on horseback went first to the sheriff’s house, near the church,
where he understood that she was in church, and took one of the
servants with hirm, whom he sent first to her. Thinks both by the
time of the day, and the haste he made, that this party might be at
Essex House before the Earl came forth of the house. [§ page.]

7. Deposition of Ric. Smart, sword bearer of the city of London.
Sheriff Smythe departing from the Lord Mayor’s house at his
coming from Paul’s, went home to take order for his house and
ward, according to the direction delivered Ly Sir Thos. Gorges;
buv after the Lord Mayor understood of the Earl’s coming into
London, he sent again for the Sheriff, who then told the Lord
Mayor that as he was going to dinner, he had word brought him
that the Earl with all his troops were ab his door, and that on
going to them, he told the Earl that if’ it stood with his pleasure, he
should be welcome with some of the better sort, but as his pro-
vision was only for his ordinary guests, he requested him to com-
mand the rest to forbear entering his house ; whereupon the Earl
entered with some 12 or 20, and commanded the rest not to do so,
and that he, Smythe, had left them to come and wait upon him,
the Lord Mayor, [1 page.]

8. Deposition of Sir William Rider, Lord Mayor of London, before
W. Waad. The Earl of Essex being in Gratious [Gracechurch] Street
on Sunday, 8 Feb, and making a stand, Sheriff Smythe entreated
leave to move the Earl to come to deponent; assented, and the
Sheriff went and had private speech with him for } of an hour;
he excused himself for staying so long by saying that the Earl held
his horse by the bridle. The Sheriff’s going to the Earl was of
his own motion, but he entreated Mr. Recorder, then present, to re-
member (as it was a ticklish time) that the Lord Mayor had sent
him.

o
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With note by Ric. Wilbraham. I remember the Sheriff rehears-
ing to the Lord Mayor the following night the cause of his staying
0 lono' as also that the Earl would have had him to go with hin,
but he refused, and affirmed that he had a greater commander in
company than the Earl himself was. [1 pe, Jc,]

9. Deposition of Sir Wm. Rider, Lord Mayor of London. After
Sir Thos. Gorges had been with him at the sermon at Paul’s
Cross at 10} am, and delivered his message from Her Majesty,
was repairing to Lis house through CheapsuIQ, when a gentleman,
very well mounted, galloped fast through Cheqpmde towards
Giracechurch Street. Has since understood that he carried a letter
from the Earl of Kssex to Sheriff Smythe, which was delivered
to his wife in the church. Signed also by Wm. Sebright, town
clerk ; Rich. Wilbraham, common serjeant ; and Ric. Smart, sword
bearer.

With note by Thos. Fettiplace and Lau. Marshall, servant to the
Recorder, that they saw the aforesaid gentleman, who carried a
dagger in his hand. [1 page.]

10. Examination of Edw. Bromley, gent., before Lords Egerton,
Buckhurst, and Nottingham, and Sec. Coeil.  Went to Essex House
Saturday night, 7 Feb., to see the Earl of Essex. Mr. Cuffe said
the Earl had been sent for by Sec. Herbert to come to the Lord
Treasurer’s, on purpose, as the Earl feared, to send him to the
Tower, or some other harm. Cuffe also said the Earl was not
secure of his life.  'Went to his brother, Sir Hen. Bromley, whom
he found in bed, it being past 10 o'clock, and related what Cuife
had said. His brother blamed him for disturbing the house so
late, but Henry Pettingale coming afterwards with a message from
Lady Rich, that she wished to speak to his brother, Sir Henry rose,
and they went to Lady Rich at Walsingham House, and his brother
had secret conference with her, and said that she had told hLim in
effect as much as Cuffe had said.

Ou their return, he required examinate to go to the Earl next
morning, and tell him that he and Sir John Scott would be ready
to -do him service, and that Sheriff Smythe would do the like.
Went and delivered the said message at Essex House, and the Earl
willed him to return to his brother and Sir John Scott, and entreat
them to repair to Sheriff Smythe’s house, and they should hear
from him presently. Related the Earls message to Lis brother,
who acquainted Sir John Scott therewith, being then at church,
and they two agreed to dine with Sheriff Smythe. Returning to
Jissex House, met the Earl at Essex Gate, coming out, and went in
his company to Sheriff Smythe’s house, where he related to the
arl the answer of his brother and Sir John Scott, when the Earl
sald 1t was well. Went with the Earl to Ludgate, and after the
repulse, returned to Essex House ; after the Karl had yielded, he
and C ‘apt John Salisbury escaped.

P.S.—Being sickly and lame at his brother’s house in Worcester-
shire, was unwﬂhno- to come to London, but his brother would



1601,

March 2.

DOMESTIC~ELIZABETH. 5

Vor. CCLXXIX.

have him up with him ; was in London two days before last
Candlemas. [2} pages.]

11. Sir Hen. Nevill to Lords Egerton, Buckhurst, Nottingham,
and Sec. Cecil. 1 have, as required, set down all my transactions
with the Earl of Essex and his accomplices, since my leaving
France. On my arrival in London from Boulogne, 6 August last,
I received a message from Mr. Cuffe that T had evil offices done me,
as the Earl of Essex was informed by his friends in Court, and that
great blame was like to be cast upon me, as if I had caused the
breach at Boulogne. When I bhad been to Court and found the
coutrary, I told Cuffe; he said things were turned now, but there
was such an intention, and my Lord wished me to know it, as
he esteemed me much, and was sorry to see me so wronged. I
acknowledged myself much bound to my Lord for his favour, which
I would deserve with any service I could.

Not long after, Cuffe brought me a kind lctter from my Lord,
desiring my love as a great treasure. I returned the best compli-
ments I could, and such offers of service as are usual.  Soon after,
my Lord went into the country, and myself Likewise. I remained
within 10 miles of him, and rode twice in one week by the park
pale where he lay, but I never saw mnor sent to hiwm, although I
understood that most gentleman in those parts did hoth. Cufle
came once thence to my house, and proposed to stay two or three
days with me, but the next day I had occasion to ride into the Vale,
and so we parted at Nettlebed.

After my coming to London in October, Cuffe moved me to come
and see my Lord, as he was at liberty, and all the world that would
now come to him; I said I would ere long, and as I put it off for
four or five days, he at length named a time, saying that having
told my Lord I would come, he would marvel if I did not. Culle
said he would desire my Lerd to go o supper so much the sooner,
and appoiut one to weet me and bring me into my Lord’s study.
I went at 8 paw., and was met by Glascock, my Lord’s man, who
conducted me as Mr. Cuffe had divected ; after some half hour’s stay,
my Lord came up and received me very kindly, and entertained me
with many questions of foreign matters, and scme hopes of his own
about the sweet wines, and otherwise to be restored to Her Majesty’s
presence ere long, and at length dismissed me kindly, and brought
me down himself to the back gate. In all his talk I did not hear
him use one undutiful speech of the Queen or the State.

After this I never spake with nor received any letter from him,
nor he from me. Cuffe sometimes came, and when I asked how his
Lord’s matters stood in Court, he sometimes gave show of hope,
sometimes of despair; when he secmed to despair, he would break out
into words of heat and impatience, and upon one occasion repeated
this verse : “ Arma tenenti, omnia dat qui juste negat”” Ianswered
in French, “fout Leau.” He spake very big, and said it made no
matter, it would give my Lord cause to think the sooner of other
courses,
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Last Christmas he told me there was a purpose to take some pre-
text to lay up my Lord of Southampton, and they took it as a
preface to the laying up of my Lord of Essex himself, but he
thought my Lord was resolved they should never coop him more.
With these wild speeches he would sometimes entertain me, bub
never brake directly with me any particular till the Saturday after
Candlemas term began ; when, after a preface of my Lord’s confidence
in my affection towards the State and himself, he told me that his
purpose was to make me privy to some designs he had for his own
safety and the good of the State, wherein there should be nothing
attempted against Her Majesty’s person or cstate; that my Lord
did not desire that T should embark in it forther than I was wil-
ling. but that when I should hear it proposed, I should give him
what advice T thought fit, and for that purpose he desired that I
would meet my Lord of Southampton and Sir Chas. Danvers, who
should relate the particulars. I told him tbat with this limitation,
that nothing should he attempted against the Queen’s person or
estate, I would hear what should be proposed, and would meet next
day at Sir Chas. Danvers’ lodging ; but that day I was appointed
to attend the Lords ahout French eauses, where I stayed till it was
late, and so disappointed the meeting. The Monday and Tuesday [
attended Sec. Herbert at Doctors’ Commons, about an answer to be
made to the French Ambassador’s complaints. The Wednesday we
spent all the afternvon with the ambassador. From Thursday to
Saturday T excused myself on private business ; yet upon Friday or
Saturday, having understood that Sir Chas. Danvers was not at his
lodging, I went, and Teft word I had been there to see him; this I
did because I had often been solicited by Cuffe about the meeting,
and told that they began to make an evil judgment of my delay.
I answered that my Lord might as well deliver his mind to me by
him as them ; he said that he had made choice of them to breed a
contidence between them and me; indeed Mr. Cuffe had been two or
three months persuading me to make acquaintance with my Lord
of Southampton and Sir Chas. Danvers, who, he said, greatly
desired it.

At length he brought Sir Charles to my lodging, where there
passed nothing but compliments and ordinary talk ; it was the first
time I had spoken with him.  Upon Monday, being Caudlemas day,
as I was coming out of Serjeants’ Inn, there came by in a coach my
Lords of Essex and Southampton, Sir Christ. Blount, and Sir Charles
Danvers, and went towards the Strand. As I had told Cuffe that
I would be there that day, and they had seen me so near, I went
thence to Drury House, and there found my Lord of Southampton
with Sir Chas. Danvers. I had never spoken with my Lord since
e was a child, in my old Lord Treasurer’s house. He began to
break with me that my Lord of Essex, persuaded of my love to him
and of my discretion, had given him commission to reveal to me a
matter of great secrecy and importance ; viz, that my Lord, finding
his life sought by his enemies, despairing of justice because they

- b -
were so potent about the Queen, and allowed nothing to come to her
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knowledge but what they listed, intended to repair to her presence,
and declare his own and many other grievances; and because he
knew he should not be suffered to do this in private sort, he was
advised to go so well accompanied that he might not be kept from
her. That for the effecting thereof, it was proposed to send 40
persons in several companies to the Mews, who, upon the discovery
of my Lord’s approach, (who should come in a coach well attended
with my Lord of Southampton) should go hefore to the CourtGate and
possess it. Some other of their company would be before in the hall
of the Court, who upon the sight of their possessing the gate, should
make up to the guard chamber, seize the guards’ halberds, and so be
masters of that chamber. In the presence, there should be some
lords and others to welcome my Lord when he came, and to go in
with him to the Queen, and to countenance his action.

Herein my Lord required my advice. I told him it was a matter
of too great weight to be suddenly digested ; that I would perform
what I had promised; but that I never offered nor meant to draw
my sword in the cause. Some objections I proposed, as that this
was of the nature of those actions which, as Tacitus say, “non lou-
dantur nisi peracte,” and would be interpreted by the success. That
it was full of difficulties ; first, becausc it was almost impossible to
prepare so many hands as should suffice without its being revealed ;
secondly, if any door were found shut upon them, they would be
disappointed ; lastly, the city of Westminster was at hand, which,
though they should prevail so far as to possess the gate, might
quickly bring in force enough to dispossess them.

To the first they answered that they would not make their purpose
known till the morning they intended to execute it,and would draw
their company together upon some other pretext. To the second
that they hoped to come so unexpected, and those appointed to be
before in Cowrt would be so vigilant, as there should not be time to
shut any doors. To the last, that being once in Court, and having the
show of the State on their side, nobody would stir against them.
Their end was to seize upon my Lord’s enemies, and require justice
against them, tendering others to supply the places. I cannot
say that they spoke of any Parliament to be called, but Cuffe did
afterwards. I do not remember that they spoke of above 120
hands; they named some noblemen that they would take with them,
as my Lord of Rutland, but said they could not trust him with the
matter above two hours before they attempted it. They spoke of
seizing the Tower, as a matter which they could do when they
would, by means of Sir John Davies, but had not resolved certainly
of the time or circumstance of their attempt. They prayed me to
think of it, and said that Sir Charles Danvers would come to me
within four or five days, to have further conference. Since then I
never saw nor even received any letter or message from them, nor
they from me. Cuffe came to me a day or' two after, to whom I
related what had passed in that conference, and said I could
not approve any such enterprise unless the undertakers swore not to
attempt anything against the Queen’s person or estate, as they had
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done in the enterprise of Amboise, a precedent whereof was to be
seen in history.

Seeing it was directed, among others, against Mr. Secretary, I said
I would have no hand in it, because I was near allied to him, and had
been beholden to him, and I would not blot my reputation to be
false to him. This I told Cuffe walking in my garden, and added
that they must not embark me into any action against him. He
answered, that for the first, I should be fully satisfied, and himself
wished it; and for the second, they would not press me, only he
wished I might be in the presence at the time when it should happen,
because my Lord meant to name me, among others, to supply some
place there, and would bhave me at hand. I replied that I should be
gone into France, and that my despatches were signed. He told me
to feign myself sick, if I were pressed to be gone. This I did not do,
but solicited as much as I could possibly to receive my money out of
the Exchequer, as Mr Skinner will testify, purposing to have been
gone presently.

In some of his conferences with me, Cuffe moved me to sound a
minister with whom I was familiar, how le stood affected to my
Lord, and what he conceived of the affection of the city to him, in
his former troubles ; but I did not, and indeed that minister was
out of town. He also told me that there was a rumour of some
practice against my Lord’s person, which caused many noblemen
and others to come and offer themselves to my Lord, and that more
came than they could tell what to do with; also that there had
been warning given to the Mayor of London to look to the city,
but that the affection cf the city was sure to my Lord, and that of
24 aldermen, they held themselves assured of 20 or 21. The last
time I spoke with him, he desired me from my Lord that, although
I would not be an actor myself in the matter, I would command
my men, if I were in Court when my Lord came thither, either to
take part with him, or at least not to take part against him. I
answered, “ very well,” but never meant it, and desive that my
servants may be examined of it.

I knew nothing of their attempt that Sunday, but came that
morning to the Court with Otwell Smith, to speak with Mr.
Secretary about the merchants’ causes at Rouen. When I understood
what cause the Earl took, and saw the vizard taken from him, and
his true intents laid open, I detested him and his actions, and
remained in Court till 10 p.m., on purpose to have spent my life in
Her Majesty’s defence, if there had been cause. [73% pages.]

12. Confession of D. Fletcher. On Thursday or Friday before
the Earl of Essex’s coming into London in that seditious manner, I
met Mr. Temple, who told me that certain Jesuits and seminar
priests lodging in divers places of the city had vowed to kill the
Earl of Essex, and had devised and cast abroad libeis to make him
odious to the people. This I believed. It seemed not improbable
that being so followed by military men, and making unusual pro-
fession of religion, they might suppose that the Earl stood in their
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way, and might hinder their designs if they intended any practice
against Her Majesty and the State. I promised, if I lighted upon
any of those libels, to get a copy and send it to him.

The Saturday following, at 10 p.n, when I and my family
were in bed, Mr. Temple came and desired to speak with me.
I thought in good manners I could not refuse, so he came up to my
bedside, where, in the hearing of my wife, he said that my Lord of
Essex that afternoon had been sent for to come before Council, but
being in bed, and all in a sweat after tenunis, he excused himself, as he
could not come without danger of his healtli; that he was sent for a
second time by Sec. Herbort who alleged that hie was to do the Queen
some present service, and that the bpamards were on the coast, but he
made the same answer, being advertised from a friend at Court that he
was waylaid by Sir We alter R@lexgi 1 and his company of ruffiaus, and
that if he went, he should surely be martyred. That he (Temple)
acquainted me and others of my Lord’s friends with it, that they
might know in what danger he stood, and how he was pursued by
his enemies, meaning Sir Walter Raleigh and his company.

The next morning, Mr. Temple seut his man for me, and having
occasion to go to church in Thames Street to Lear a preacher whom
I had commended to that parish, I went by his house ; he said
that Sir Walter Raleigh and his company had set upon the Earl of
Essex in his own house, to murder him in bed. I answered that it
was a marvel his Lordship could not make his part good with
Sir Walter, and that it were good for him to complain ; so promis-
ing to inquire more of these reports, I went to church, and on my
l'etm‘n, heard that the Earl of Essex had passed along with a great
company, and was gone out at Aldgate; so I went to my Loxd
Mayor's, and attended him all that day, to assist him.

Mr. Temple did not impart to me his coming into London in that
seditions manner, nor any other of bis wicked designs; neither did
the Earl judge me a fit man to impart to me any such ungodly
practices, knowing weli that I would reveal them. I suspected
from these report@ which I see now to he fables and devised, that
some great quarrel was like to brealk out between the Earl and Sir
Walter Raleigh. As to Mr. Temple, I think he was deceived by the
Earl, that he might deceive others.

As to the Earl’s own confession that Mr. Temple told him I re-
ported that Mr, Smythe was in as great danger as humself, T protest
that I never spoke any such ’WOldx to “\11 'lemplp, nuthel did I
know that Mr. Smythe or my Lord himself was in any danger; only
I remember that Mr. Temple talking with me about ezectmg the
cross in Cheap, I told him that my Lord of Canterbury’s Grace was
offended with Mr. Sinythe and me for writing to Oxford for the
opinion of some learned men touching the cross with the crucifix,
&e.

As for the Aldermen’s disposition towards the Earl, though T knew
{hat many of them were well affected towards him, like myself and
many others, while he behaved dutifully towards Her Majesty, yet
being faithful subjects, and caveful of their private estates, 1 could
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and would have told him (if he had asked my opinion of them
that it had been mad presumption to suppose that they could allow,
and much more join him in so desperate an attempt. I never spoke
with any of them about this matter, and therefore could not say he
was sure of them.

Touching the city’s suit to the Lord Admiral, to move Her
Majesty for her warrant to train a certain number of honest citizens
to make them more fit for service, it was a suit, as is well known,
committed to me one and a half years since, by my Lord Mayor and
Court of Aldermen, by whom I bave been called upon continually,
and by the merchants of this eity, to follow that suit. I have been
often blamed for negligence in it ; therefore I have been often with
his Lordship about that suit.

His late practice, no less mad and foolish than ungodly and
seditious, I utterly detest, and defy both him and all other, and my

wn heart, if it should conceive the least disloyal or undutiful
thought against Her Majesty or their Honours, whom I reverence for
conscience sake. [2 pages.]

13. Deposition of Wm. Killigrew of the Privy Chamber. Being
sent from Her Majesty with a message to Mr. Comptroller, whom
Her Majesty had sent with my Lord Keeper to Essex House, Sir
Christopher Blount came and asked me whether I would speak
with my Lord; T said, No, I was only sent to my uncle, and not
finding him there, I meant to go back again ; whereupon Sir Chris-
topher laid hold of my arm and said, You must bear with me, though
I deal discorteously with you; for seeing you are here, you must
speak with my Lord before you go, and “therefore I pray go up to
him. T told him I had nothing to say to his Lordship, and therefore
would not go; thereupon he called Sir John Davies, and willed him
to let my Lord know of my being there.

Whilst Sir John Davies was going and coming, Sir Christ. Blount
smiling said T was not sent from Her Majesty, but from some
others; I replied he was not so ignorant of the place I served in,
but that I might be very well sent by Her Majesty. Then Sir
Christopher told me very loudly that my Lord should have been
murdered that night, and that he and divers more had vowed their
lives for him, and would gspend them for him, and that he had
spent his blood in Her Majesty’s service. I told him I was sorry
to hear him use such words; they would do my Lord no good nor
himself, and with that my Lord came down, and a great company
with him. This is all the speech 1 had with Sir Christopher Blount.
[Partly in Cecils's hand. 11 pages.]

14. Copy of the above. [% page.]

15. Examination of Thos. Warburton, before Walter Cope and
Jno. Grange. Came to London last term, about some law cases
and payment of some money. Has served the Earl of Essex 15
years, and often had access to Essex House, and was there all the
Saturday. Went to his lodging near Temple Bar, and returned to
Essex House the next morning. Knew nothing of the Earl’s inten-



1601,

[ March 4.]

Mareh 4.

DOMESTIC—ELIZABETH. 11

Vor. CCLXXIX.

tions until his return, and then only heard a flying speech that the
Earl should have been murdered. On Sunday morning, sent his
man to desire Mr. Thos. Fleming and Mr. Hugh Cocker to come
and speak with him, intending that afternoon to go out of town,
but they did not come. Was at Hssex House when the Lords of
the Council came, but did not hear what they said, neither knew
what became of them. Accompanied the Earl into London, to
Sheriff Smythe’s house, but had no other weapon than a rapier
and dagger, which he denies to have drawn. The Earls of Rut-
land and Southampton are his landlords. Left the Lords in Cheap-
side, hearing an apprentice say that the Earl of Essex was proclaimed
a traitor, and went down to Watling Street to buy a cloak, his man
having lost his; coming to the cloakmaker’s house about 1 pm,
stayed until 4, and was not at Ludgate when the Earls were re-
pulsed. Lay in London until Tuesday morning, and then rode
home, and there had intelligence that his kinsman, Richd. Warberton,
went about to beg his goods ; returned with all speed and offered
himself to Sec. Cecil, who committed him to the Gatehouse. Being
in the dining chamber in Essex House, on Saturday night, 8 pm,
the Earl of Essex asked if he knew where Lord Sandys lay;
told him about Charing Cross, and was then sent to tell him that
the Earl would speak with him; more thap that the Earl never
spoke with him, either then or before. [1 page.]

16. Note that Thos. Jonson, a tailor and householder, has a
window in his house which looks into Essex House, and that he
often saw Sir Gelly Merrick, in his doublet and rapier, passing to
and fro in the court, with sundry musketeers following him.

That Urbin Wylkes, at the time that Lord Burghley was at the |

street gate, saw Sir Gelly with a musket and caliver, who held it
ready to shoot at the gate, but Mr. Trewe, that keeps ChartleyHouse,
pulled him back, and prevented him from shooting at that time.

Geo. Goodman saw Sir Gelly upon the leads over the hall porch,
going into Mr. Cuffe’s chamber, when he had a musket and laid it
over the wall, ready to shoot towards the street gate, but did not
see him shoot when Lord Burghley was at the gate.

John Cowles also saw Sir Gelly often walking from one gate to
another, with Wever, his servant, following with a musket. These
three persons will be at Westminster Hall to-morrow, to give this in
evidence. [% page. Merrick’s trial was on March 5.)

17. Declaration of Fras. Merrick before W, Waad, Jno. Grange,
and Wm. Crutchlow. A letter was written by my brother Sir Gelly,
to my brother John Merrick, to pay money to Sir Gieo. Devereux,
due to him at Lady Day, and willing me to come up to follow my
business about the lease of Manerbyre, and Capt. Cuney and his
business ; and if Capt. Dansey came also, my Lord would take
it kindly. The letter was seen by Mr. Morgan Powell, Mr. Nicholas
Adams, Thos. Adams, and Capt. Cuney. It remains with my brother
John. Affirmed on oath before Lord Chief Justice Popbham. [$

page.]
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18. Notes of two commissions to the Lord Steward ; one for the
trial of Lord Sandys and Lord Cromwell, and another for Lord
Sandys alone ; of warrants from the Commissioners for the execu-
tion of Sir Gelly Merrick and Cuffe at Tyburn, and of warrants
for [be]heading Sir Christ. Blount and Sir Charles Danvers, at
Tower Hill, and for the execution of Littleton.

19. Notes relative to the treasonable conduct of Sir Christ.
Blount in Iveland. [2} pages. Prepared by Att. Gen. Coke, against
his trial, 4 March 1601, See Howell's State Trials, Vol. 1. p-
1431-2).

20. Anne, Lady Nevill, to Mr. Windebank, at Court. Pray
remind Mr. Secretary in what extreme afliction I, his poor kins-
woman, am, and beg some word of comfort by my uncle Killigrew.
1 have been here six days, and never heard from my uncle, but I
hear the office of Custos rotulorum is taken from Mr. Neville, and
Sir Edw. Norris has his place in the commission of peace. My hope
is only in Mr. Secretary, for if he fail, “ perit quoad hoc mundum.”
He sent me word his place must endure no partiality, and I re-
verence his sincerity ; but love (a thing approved by God himself)
covers a multitude of infirmities, and I hope Mr. Neville has not so
offended but that his honour may vouchsafe him this cover. To move
him to favour me In respect of kindred, or because I received my
happiness from his house will be needless, for he has mentioned
these things kindly in my behalf to my uncle, so that it puts me
in good hope he will not sec the ruin of what his parents founded.
He may seem to have lost bis former favours bestowed on me,
because I have no means to show sufficient thankfulness, yet
my heart has always been most faithful towards him, and T "Lave
not ceased to beseech the Lord to heap upon him all the blessings
of this life and of that to come ; my very soul has rejoiced when
I Lieard of any advancement to him, and I will desire his favours
to be no more large to me, in this my misery, than my heart has been
enlarged toward God for his exceeding great prosperity. Pray
polish my rovgh-hewn speech, proceeding from a mind that never
knew how to dissemble, and I beseech you I may hear as soon as you
may, for the comfort of my poor sad father. |1 page.]

2], Intelligence received at Bordeaux from an Irish priest coming
from Spain. That e bad been well entertained at Valladolid College,
and that at a great feast there, on St. Thomas of Canterbury’s day,
there were 80 scholars there, besides Jesuits. That Cresswell was in
great favour in the King of Spdm s Court. That Capt. Hugh Mostyn,
who formerly served in Ireland, had become pensioner of the King
of Spain. That Lord Burke, a pensioner of Spain, and three other
Irishmen, solicited aid to go to Ireland, as without aid Ireland
would be lost. That 30,000 soldiers were ready at the Groyne, and
20,000 in other parts of Spain, either for Ireland or Flanders. That
Capt. Blake and his mariners are well entertained to serve the King
of Spain.  That Lister, a bankrupt Englishman at St. Sebastian’s,
vowed to fight against all English while he lived, on account of his
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failure. That many gallant Englishmen are in Spain. That if the
Queen do not grant liberty of conscience, she will surely lose Ireland ;
but if she do, all the Irish will fight with her against the world. That
the King of Spain, for relieving so many as he did, was the bravest
king in the world. That three Benedictine friars have lately gone
to England, with plenty of money. That two Irish spies for the
Queen of England have been taken, and are in danger of their lives.
That the King of Spain allowed the English college at Valladolid
3,000 crowns yearly, and that the scholars brought great sums on their
admittance, and have monies sent yearly. That it was supposed the
young Earl of Desmond was poisoned at the Court of England,
That the Queen had wronged Lord Burke in taking away his lands
without cause. That the Protestants will one day pay for their per-
secution of the Catholics. [1 page.]

22. Anne, Lady Nevill, to Mr. Windebauk, at Court. Will you
speak to Mr. Secretary to give me leave to go to Mr. Nevill to know
his mind,—seeing Lis employment into France has had so unfortunate
an end,—as to how Le will dispose of his company, and likewise for
the settling of household affairs ? I desire nothing but in the
presence of Mr. Lock, and you know I amn so deaf that he must
speak loud enough. Speak for me, for he is at great charge in the
country, and you know what little need he has of it. [ page.]

23. Examination of [Capt.] John Salisbury, of Rugen, co. Merioneth,
before Attorney General Coke, Solicitor General Fleming, Julius
Caesar, He. Bowes, and Fr. Bacon., Has served the Earl of Essex
nine years. Was in London three weeks before the Earl rose, and
lodged with Capt. Peter Wynne, near Essex House. Was in the
court-yard on Sunday, 8 Feb., when the other Lords came from Her
Majesty to the Earl. Was commanded by the Earl to look to the
gate. Went with the Earl and his company, with rapier and dagger,
to Sheriff Smythe’s house, and thence to Ludgate, where he drew
his weapon, and was one of them that gave the charge; being
repulsed, retired with the Earl to Fssex House, and defended the
house until it was yielded. Escaped in the confusion. [1 page.]

24. Like examination of Sir Edw. Michelbourne, of Clayton, co.
Suffolk. Went to Essex House on Sunday, 8 Feb,, and as he was
going up towards the chamber where the sermons used to be made,
the Earl and his company came down another way ; followed them,
and about Temple Bar gave his footman his eloak, and accompanied
the Earl to Sheriff Smythe’s house. A little before he came thither,
was told that some of the Council were at Essex House; then went
into Sir Hen. Lindley’s house, as others did, while the Earl and
others were in Sheriff Smythe’s. It was hinted that Lord Burghley
was come to town with forces; thereupon came out, and saw the
Earl of Essex near Lis (examinate’s) house. There met with Walter
Pierce, a musician, who said, “ There is trouble at the Court, and Her
Majesty hath sent to apprehend the Karl.” Asked for his cloak and
departed to his chamber, and was at his lodging between 1 and 2
o'clock. [1 page.]
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[March 13.]  25. Speech of Mr. Cuffe at his execution for treason in joining
with the Earl of Essex. “I am here come to make satisfaction
to God, my Prince, and country for my offences, wherein as by
the greatness of my sins, I perceive the infiniteness of God’s
justice, so by the greatness of his punishment laid upon me, I
persuade myself of the infiniteness of his mercy. My Lords, you
are assembled here to see us presented for a gazing stock of death
and misery. It is fearful to the flesh and ignominous towards the
world. Howbeit the testimony of former times proves that the con-
dition of reproach, infamy, death itself is common to the best sort
of men, nay, to the saints of God themselves, whom as I shall follow
mm shame and death, so my soul doth assnre me that I shall arise
together with them in glory and life eternal.

“ Let no man misconstrue this my confidence. As for my own
merits, I utterly disclaim them, depending only upon the precious
blood of Christ, my Saviour. This I hold for a principle in divi-
nity, that whosoever is temporally punished and yet feels spiritual
comfort inwardly, him doth God chastise as a child, and not punish
as a judge.

“To come to the matter itself for which we must suffer, I protest
I never entertained any disloyal thought against the Queen. I
was neither a party privy nor consenting to that tumultuous ill-
advised assembly under that great nobleman. I bore but the part
of a child, the part of mourning and weeping. I was kept within
doors and shut up all day long.”

Here he was interrupted by one saying, “As you went from the
bar, did you not yourself confess that you were justly condemned ?”
¢ I did,” said he “ but not for anything done the 8th of Feb.”

“The plot itself, which never came into execution, but was long in
projection, consisted of two parts, the intention and the means
how to accomplish it.”

Here he was interrupted by one saying, O ! how dare you decline
from the good example of the penitent death your Lord made, that
now go about to justify yourself? You must confess your sin, and
malke satisfaction to the world that you are justly condemned, that
yvou may the better deserve forgiveness for this your foul and
traitorous fact, both of God and the Queen.” My Lord Grey said,
“This is no time for logic. I am sorry that those good parts which
God hath bestowed upon you, and by your own industry you have
attained unto, should be thus abused in justifying yourself”” Then
Mr. Cuffe offering, nay pressing to speak, another said, “ All the
judges have resolved that the very intent was treason, and that
vou, though not party to the fact, yet because privy to the intent,
were a traitor; and the Earl of Essex in his confession said that
you were a principal instigator of him to that action, and therefore
your words are but fig leaves to cover vour shame; and you must
know this much, that whosoever goes about to levy war within the
realm, his head cannot stand upon his shoulders, and the Queen’s
crown upon her head”” “I confess,” said he “that it was wicked
and ungodly, and no way warranted, for a subject being in disgrace,
and debarred from her presence, to make access for himself by force
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without her licence.” “Nay,” replied another, “all the judges
resolved it was high treason.” “Give me leave, I pray you,” said
Mr. Cuffe, “I speak of the Scriptures, what it was by God’s law,
and I consent in soul with the judges that in our law it is treason ;
and I confess T deserved death, and therefore ask forgiveness of the
Queen and of all the world ; but for anything that I intended against
the person of the Queen, or to the hurt of my country, I protest
that I never entertained any disloyal thought thereof.”

. _FLLUM UUG}/ ’uild;lgtl]. IVIL (}Llff't} WLU}J DUdUbLLIg SLL H :\‘TC\«llle, (LLl’(.L
requested him to spealk the truth of that matter, and also of his
slandering the city, in giving out that of the 24 aldermen, 21
were assured to the Earl, To these he answered that for Sir Hen,
Neville, he must confess he drew Lim into that unfortunate action, for
which he desived Sir Henry’s forgiveness, but for the city, he meant
that of the 24 aldermen 21 were assured to the Earl in love, but not
that they were assured to take arms for him, or to stand in his defence.
Here he protested again that neither himself moved any nor knew
anyone that intended to take arms against the Queen, and he was
sorry that so many gentlemen were ignorantly drawn into that un-
fortunate action, hopmo notmthatandmw that the Queen would
rather pardon 20 that were guilty than condemn one innocent,
Here he was interrupted again by one saying he must no more of
these matters, he would but prevent himself of other things more
necessary, and shorten his own time.

Thus being stopped, he fell to prayers, then to confession of his
faith, then to his belief concerning the Secriptures, then to ask
pardon of God, of the Queen, and of all those who were interested in
that matter, but principally of Sir H. Nevill, who was drawn into
trouble by him, and so committed his soul to God. [Fuller than the
report in Howell's State Trials, Vol. L, p. 1414.]

26. “ The last words of My, Cuffe, secretary to the Earl of Essex,
I am here adjudged to die for plotting a plot never acted, for
acting an act never plotted. Justice will have her course. Accusers
must be heard, Greatness will have the victory. Scholars and mar-
tialists (though learning and valour should have the preminence yet)
in England must die like dogs and be hanged. To mislike this were
but folly ; to dispute of it but time lost; to alter it impossible, but
to endure it manly and to scorn it magnanimity. The Queen is
displeased, the lawyers injurious, and death terrible; but I crave
pardon of the Queen, forgive the lawyers and the world, and desire
to be forgiven, and welcome death.” [ page. This speech differs
entively from that printed in Cwmder’ Elizabeth, and in Howell's
State Trials.)

27. Secretary Cecil to Attorney General Coke. Send me the last
confessions of Sir Christopher Blount and Lord Southampton,
concerning the late Earl of EKssex’s purpose to brmw Over an army
from Ireland, as I have occasion to use them. [L page.]

28. Memorandum [by Atf. Gen. Coke] that he gave 25 papers
concerning the Earl of Essex’s treasons to Mr. Solicitor, to be
delivered to Fras. Bacon. [On « folding sheet, dirvected on one side
to the Attorney General, and on the other to Dr. Andrewes.]
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29. Examination of Rich. Atkinson before Attorney General Coke,
Took the paper written by the Earl of Essex out of the cupboard
in his mistress’s chamber, and made a copy of it on 8 Feb,, in the
afternoon. His master, Mr, Smuythe, on the Tuesday following, told
him to make a copy, which he did, and gave it to him at his house in
Fenchurch Street, with that he had previously made. Made no
other copy for any one else, nor showed them to any other person.

Udall delivered the original unsealed to his mistress, openly in the
chureh., Knows not u]mf' hecame of the econies, |'3_ vaae. In
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Cole’s hand.]

30. Examination of Sarah wife of Thomas Smythe, late sheriff
of London, before Attorney General Coke and W. Waad. On
Sunday morning, 8 Feb., towards the end of the sermon, Mr. Udall
came to her in Fenchurch, and told her he should have delivered a
writing from the Earl of Essex to Mr. Smythe, but not finding him
at home, wished her to do so; the writing was all in the Iiarl’s
hand, berrmmnw thus: “I do with all hunnhty present,” &e.
Oﬂered it to her husband as soon as she came from church, but as
Le was receiving it, the Karl came in, so kept it until M'onday,
when she gave it to her husband on his return from the Court. On
the Sundﬁy aforesaid, her servant, Rich. Atkins {or Atkinson], had
the letter a quarter of an hour; Tad it again before her husband
came home. [# page.]

31. Examination of Capt. Edw. Bromley. Came to Essex House
about 7 a.m., Feb. 8, and, after he had delivered the message and
received the answer mentioned in his former examination, returned
to Essex (House) with the Earl. Sir Christopherand Sir John Hey-
don came to Ludgate, and werethere repulsed, and after shifted
for themselves; being at Sheriff Smythe’s house, Sir John Heydon
advised the Earl to keep the house, as there was no going out, as
Lord Burghley was coming with great force, and had made procla-
mation. [i page.]

32. [Sec. Cecil] to Mr. Winwood. I send you the Queen’s letter
of credit. Though the Queen has not touched particularly on this
offence, wherein the world may perceive how much labour and how
many benefits she has cast away upon that ungrateful Earl, you
may summarily represent to the [French] King the facts and cireum-
stances; that he may see that these treasons spring from ambition,
not oppression or practise of hLis enemies; for he confesses that his
accusations of his enemies were only to colour his pretence. By
other conspirators’ confessions it seems that the taking of the
Tower, seizing the city, placing new officers, and surprising the
Court, had more than private ends. The enclosed will show that he
stayed not here, and what he had resolved in Ireland before coming
over. The last that died were Sir Chris. Blount and Sir Charles
Danvers; I hope, seeing Her Majesty has so satisfied jostice in
execution of the principal conspirators, the Earl of Southampton
shall be spared. I take care of Sir Hen. Nevill's fortune, being
tied by friendship and nature. [1 page.]
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33. Thos. Phelippes to Lord Cobham, This great business is
ended, and I have heard there is speech of returning to treating for
peace, intermitted by the late accident. Therefore I put you in
mind of the matter of the jewels, whereof—besides that there will
come money to the Queen, and some benefit to ourselves,—it may be
made a means to do other service, which may turn to your honour,
That which is now required is an inventory of them, and their
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will take for them. If the party that brought the letter, who is a
dweller in town, a stranger, and has skill, saw them it would not
be amiss, that he may send some relation of their worth. M
friends here should be able to send word certainly what they may
be had for. When I understand what the Queen looks for, I will
augment it so as to serve your Lordship’s turn and my own. Upon
some certainty touching this point, course will be taken for the
town’s bonds for the residue of the money, for so said the last letter
that came. My friend has not heard these five weeks, or I had sent to
vou sooner. Let me advise you to know what the Queen will take for
the bonds and all. Levinus once told me the Queen would be glad
of the principal debt, and content with simall interest ; if so I would
make 1t a good match for you and myself. I see good mean to do
the Queen service and myself good, or I would not solicit it as I do,
If between this and Saturday we might be able to take the inven-
tory, and the Queen’s price of the jewels, it would come very fit,
Endorsed, “ About jewels of the Queen.” [1 page.]

34. Sir Rob. Cecil, Secretary of State, master of Wards and
liveries, and Chancellor of Cambridge University, to Dr. John
Jegon, vice-chancellor of Cambridge. We make known to you
that the governance of Clare Hall being now vacant, and pertaining
to us by right of our chancellorship, we have appointed thereto
Dr. Wi, Smith, whom we vequire you to admit.  [Latin, draft,
i page.] \

35. Geo, Carleton to his brother Dudley Carleton at the Hague.
It is my hap to be here at this barren time, when all your friends
else be abroad that were wont 1o acquaint you with the news. 1
am neither a newsmaker nov reporter, nevertheless to satisly you
will strain myself.

You must needs hear of the mischievous action of the Earl of
Essex and his adherents, dangerous to the Queen and State, and
mischievous to him and all his partakers, especially those that
were of his secret council, whereof divers have already suffered
death, though not with but after him., The Earl was beheaded in
the Tower first; Sir Cuillam [Gelly | Merrick and Cufle, bis scere-
tary, were afterwards hanged, drawn, and quartered at Tyburn ; and
lastly Siv Charles Danvers and Sir Christopher Blount were be-
headed on Tower Hill, openly on Wednesday last; it is hoped that
they will be the last, for though there be numbers caught who were
engaged, Her Majesty is much inclined to mercy, and listens to the
great suit made by themselves and their {riends for their lives.

It is strange to compare the Leginning of this action with the

6. B
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end ; for these noble and rvesolute men, assured of one another by
their undoubted valour, and combined by firm oaths, being all taken,
severed, examined, and the principals arraigned and condemmned,
they in the end, before their deaths, made such plain confessions and
accusations one of another, that they seemed to strive who should
draw one another in deepest, seeking to remove the blame of being
the first movers of these treasonable plots one from another. In
this the Earl himself exceeded all other, to all men’s wonder, for he
accused Cuffe and Sir Christopher Blount as his movers, but they
excused themselves, and Sir Christopher accused him of consulting
when in Ireland to bring over 4,000 soldiers then under his com-
mand, to right himself by force of such wrongs as he complained he
had received in his absence, to which none were made privy but the
FEarl of Southampton and himself. This course, Sir Christopher
avouched at his death, had been put in execution had he and the
Earl of Southampton not dissuaded.

Further, the Earl of Essex accused Sir Hen, Nevill, ambassador
for France, as privy and a party 4o this confederacy, as they term it,
of Drury House (where the secret conventicles were kept for three
months together, before the action). Thereupon he was presently
sent for back, being at Dover on his journey towards France,
examined, and committed. His confessions served to accuse others,
and the like with most of the rest. Sir Jno. Davies is thought to
have saved his life with telling first who was in with the deepest.
The Earl of Southampton remains unexecuted, and his friends are
in hope of his life, and yet their fear is greater.

This French ambassador being thus disgraced, there is no small
labour to find out a new one; the last that stands is Mr. Bodley,
though he makes infinite excuses. If he goes, he is likely to use your
services if you offer them. 1 went to him about it, by advice of Mr,
Edmondes, one of your best friends, and he promised anything in
bis power. My cousin Lytton had provided you as much favour if
another had gone, viz, Mr. Wm. Ceeil, Lord Burghley’s son and heir,
who was in all men’s mouths before Mr. Bodley came to be spoken of.
You should show yourself thankful to Mr. Bodley by letter. I like
your going to France much better than if you had gone into Italy,
which some here wished, for the journey is long and chargeable, and
your travels must be not for pleasure but for use. Remember that
you cannot always have those means you now have, therefore, in
your travels, fit your mind to your estate.

Sir Edw. Norris by no means liked your going into Italy, though
I (by Mr. Chamberlain’s advice) maintained awhile that opinion
against my conscience; no long time will serve your turn in France,
for getting the language in perfection, whereas in Italy a great deal
of time would not be sufficient.

Your place at Christchurch is continued one year longer, when
you must get new leave, or else you will be expelled; this time it
was Sir Edward’s suit, next year it shall be mine. Sir Edw. Norrig
of his own accord had sent to the Dean and obtained it, before I
came,
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Our friends are all in health, but my sister Bridget has fallen out
with me for a letter I sent her to move her to mariage. Mr. Ed-
mondes, Mr. Evers, and Mr. Devike send thelr ccmmendations.
There were some looking for the Earl of Southampton this morning
on Tower Hill, but it is otherwise, and so hoped. [3 pages.]

36. Tobie Matthew to Dudley Carleton. I have not performed
my promise to you, yet I have not broken it, for I could not, since

CrATTY £ oy + writh anv means r\r cvnn/‘hn‘ + o
your GOPRArtare, mect with any means of u\,txub vo ¥ au.

For news this letter is written in the worst time that may be,
for much is past whereof you have been advertised, and for what iy
to come I am no prophet, only Sir John Davies shall not die of this
sickness, and the Earl of Southampton is almost safe; for my own
opinion, I think the old sherifi’ is out of danger.

The Barl of Marr is here, as ambassador out of Scotland, to con-
gratulate the Queen’s deliverance ; to desive that his master may be
the declared successor ; and to act, as is conjectured, some greater
business, which is likely enough, for he is a man of extraordinary
courage and place. We say here the Pope 1s dead ; who is his suc-

cessor ¥ The Earl of Pembroke is cormmitted to the Fleet ; his cause

s delivered of a boy who is dead.  As for Nickins, it is fuith in me
and not knowledge, if I think that there is any such man. [1
puge. ]

87. Capt. W. Smith to Sec. Cecil. I offer to do you any service
vou command. I would resolutely die at your feet, if required, on
account of my favours irom your father. I have received threc
letters from Jas. Lock, but having been six months in France with-
out any resolution, I presume to send my man to know your pleasure.
I have things of nnpozmncc to say, profitable for Her Majesty
know, that 1 “dare nob commit to paper, so please sczv_d Ar. Lock, or
order me to come over. [l page.]

38. Sir Hen. Nevill to Sec. Cecil. I have decyphered Mr. Win-
wood’s letter and sent the cypher. Concerning Colville, I recom-
mend him to Vou as a serviceable instrument. I know nob what
you have found by hislate letters to me, but I presume it is of some
importance. He went to Rome at my charge, in company of these
negociators, and as he had insinuated himself far into their favour,
I presume he had means to do good service. I dare somewhat
answer for him, whatsoever you may have heard to the contravy,
as he did nothing with which he did not make e acquainted,
but he made me promise not to acknowledge that he held intelli-
gence with me, or I would be his utter ruin. If you continue it,
T will give my best service, only beseech that his name may noi
be revealed, because I have given him my faith. [1 page.]

39, Peregrine Lord Willoughby to Sece. Cecil. My true heart
breaks out into thankfulness where I find myself so bound. I ever
doubted that the unfortunate Earl's hasty climbing into favour
would carry him with the same violence to his downfall. T assure
myself that your offers of friendship were unfeigned, but his ambi-

B 2
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tious genius (that would not let him contain himself within his
proper sphere) thrust him on to his own ruin. What his practices
were I have published by proclamation, and by discourses of our
ministers in their churches, and will maintain your integrity in
these proceedings. Her Majesty’s gracious speeches uphold my de-
caying spirits, and I know they were procured by yourself in love
to me. Pray join in my humble suit to Her Majesty to allow me
to quit myself of that calumnious accusation made by Mr. Musgrave,
according to the laws of this realm. I have enclosed my letter to Her
Majesty open, that you may peruse and present it. I crave no more
than what the meanest may without offence desire, 7ight ; that in
the assurance of her gracious favour, T may go to any grave in peace,
and leave my honour unspotted to my children. [1 page.]

40. Wm. Boys and seven other fellows of Clare Hall to Sec. Cecil.
We thank you, after our long deprivation, for appointing us so
learned and praiseworthy a master. Under civilian chancellors, the
pupils of the Muses are most happy. Posterity and this academy
will be eternally indebted to you. She will return to her former
gladness and flourishing age. May God reward you. [2 pages,
Latin.]

41. Declaration by Rich. Smith, Deputy Commissioner, of his ad-
mission of Thos. Pearson, fellow of Queen’s College, as principal of
St. Edmund Hall, Oxford, 21 Sept. 1540, on his election thereto
by the fellows of Queen’s, on bond with two sureties to pay 26s. 9d.
to the said college, as rent of the said hall. [} page, Latin.]
Also,

Composition between the academy and the college about the
election of a principal of Edmund Hall, being a declaration whereby
the Chancellor, masters, and scholars of the university concede to the
Provost and fellows of Queen’s the right of nominating the principal
of Bdmund Hall which they purchased at the time of the dissolu-
tion of the monasteries, presenting him for confirmation to the
Chancellor, who shall also have the right of visiting the said hall,
and of expelling the principal for misconduct, if needful. 1 March
1559. [2 page, Latin] Also,

Notes of the registrations of the following admissions on elec-
tion made by the Provost and fellows of Queen’s.

1569, May 22. Nich. Cook, M.A., by Dr. Cooper, commissary.
1570, March 7. Nich. Pullen, M.A, on Cook’s resignation, by

Dr. Belly, deputy of Dr. Cooper.

1572. Sept. 24. Phil. Johnson, on Pullen’s resignation, by Dr.

Humphrey, commissary.

1576, May 9. Hen. Kobinson, on Pullen’s death, by Dr. Withing-
ton, deputy of Dr. Humphrey.
1581, July 22. Thos. Bousfield, on Robinson’s resignation, by

Dr. Bickley, deputy of Dr. James. [Latin, L page] Also,

Account of the resignation of Thos. Bousfield, in the house and
presence of Dr. George Abbott, vice-chancellor of Oxford, 26
Feb, 1601, in presence of Roderic Lloyd, public notary, where-
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upon the Chancellor wrote to the Vice-Chancellor, questioning the
right of Queen’s College to clect the principal, and proposing to
refer the case to skilful wayex‘« [$ page, Latin.]  Also,

Lord Chief Justice Walmsley to Lord [Buckhurst]. T send a
copy of a writing whereby the Oxford University grants to the
Provost and fellows of Queen’s the election of the principal of
Edmund Hall. 1 think this grant void, as by law the election of
the principals of halls belongs to the Chancellor, just as the Master
of the Rolls and chief justices have the appointments to offices void
in their time, but cannot bind their successors. Thus the interest
in the election that was in the scholars cannot be taken away by that
grant to which they were not a party. The Vice-Principal reports
that the new pnuclp&l, Mr. uousﬁeld was chosen by the company of
the Hall, because the scholars would be more ready to obey a
principal of their own choosing. Therefore as this order wrongs
both you and the scholars, and may be an example of wrong, I
entreat youto write to the Vice-Chancellor to proceed to the election
of the principal according to your former letters, 18 Fcb. 1601.
[4 page] Also,

Judgment of the counsel learned in the above-named subject.
The reasons breught to prove that the composition between the
University and Queen’s College is void, are,—

1. Because the allowance of all elections of university princi-
pals belongs by statute and custom to the Chancellor.

Amns. The composition does not interfere with this. Queen’s
College elects and the Chancellor allows; but in no college has
the chancellor the right of putting in any man who has not been
elected.

2. The Chancellor, like the Master of the Rolls and Chief Justice,
can give offices in his time, but not bind his successor to such gift.

Aus. This does not prejudice the Chancellor, because the same
right is reserved to Iim as he had before. The Master of the
Rolls and chief justices are single persons, whereas the Chancellor
and university are a corporation, and may do acts to their preju-
dice, so that even if prejudicial, it is binding.

3. The interest of the scholars is prejudiced, as they were not
parties to the grant.

- Ams. The scholars had then no right in the hall. It was a
parcel of Osney Abbey, which was dissolved, and would have been
turned to other uses but the University, on promise of the
Governor and fellows of Queen’s that it should be converted to the
use of scholars, allowed them to elect a principal, without which
composition it would not have been a hall at all.  Thus the scholars
had no right to choose a principal; but if they had, the university
which gave it could take it away, and give it to those that had
the inberitance of the hall from the King, and that are as able to
choose a sufficient man as the young men in the hall can be.

4. The principal, Bousfield, was chosen by the hall.

Amns. He might be chosen by the hall, but he was also chosen by
the fellows of Queen’s and admitted thereupon.
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5. The scholars will be more ready to obey a principal of their
own choice.

Ans. In that case the students of Christchurch, and other
places to which the Queen nominates should choose their heads,
but this does not give them a vight of election, [1% pages. Im~-
perfect copy.]

42, The Queen to [the Dean and Chapter of Peterborough]. We
recommend you to elect to your vacant see, Thos, Dove, B.D., now
Dean of Norwich. [Copy, 1+ page.]

43. Note that Wm. March confesses that he followed the Earl of
Hssex as far as the Royal Exchange, and that he was servant to him,
and carried office under him in the field. Since this action, he bas
taken in other men’s names any debts that were due to him on
bond, which gives great suspicion of his guilt. At his being in the
country upon bond, he sent for musicians, and, in his jollity, said he
should be punished for being with the Earl. He is of a turbulent
spirit, and evil thought of in the county where he lives, and meet-
ing with Mr. Gee the day of the rebellion, he reprehended him for
not following his lord and master.

Matthew Roote offers to depose that March affirmed he was with
the Barl, and that he never parted from him in his action in London
until he took boat, and this is confirmed by Reynold Allyn and
Stephen Wilson,  Mr. Bassforde, o justice of peace in Cambridge-
shire, and My, Gee, his son-in-law, have confessed the same upon
their examinations taken by the Attorney General. There is a foot-
man of Mr. Evkingstall's couveyed out of the way, who can truly
report how Mareh behaved that day.  [2 page.]

44, The case between the Queen and Thos. and Anne Cornwall,
touching lands in question between them and John Littleton, lately
attainted of high treason. The lands were left by Gilbert Littleton
to Anne Cornwall, his only daughter, but [Thos.] Lant, Windsor
Lerald-at-arms, who held the conveyance and will, delivered them
to John Littleton, who then received the profits. Cornwall and his
wife exhibited their bill in Chancery, but pending the suit, Littleton

was attainted ; questions and answers as to whether they will easily

recover the lands. [ page] Annexing,

44, 1. Particulars of the lands in question in cos. Sulop and
Worcester. [1% pages.]

45. Account of the Countess of Leicester’'s estate when she mar-
ried Sir Chris. Blount, July 1589; her jointures from her two
previous husbands, the Farls of Essex and Leicester, total 3,000 a
year, and 6,000 in plate and household stuff; whereas he had only
160L a year from a lease, for conveyance of which she paid 700.
Of how he induced her to sell lands worth 57007 and to part with
others to the Earl of Kssex, whose favour he courted, so that she has
little but what came from her first husband, the Earl of Leicester.
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These lands were extended for debts to the Queen, but Sir Christopher
got a fresh leage and conveyed it away, and got others of her lands
into his own hands. On 1st February 1601, his estate might be
worth 8,000/.  He made a deed of glft of all his pl%te jewels, and
A1 1 ol Mina o T o o

bui‘wuu\, msuu or nine years ago, but it may ! bhe avoided on 1)dy1uuuu
of a small sum.” [6 pages.]

Grant to William Killigrew, groom of the Privy Chamber, of the
money and goods forfeited by the attainder of Henry Cuffe. [ Warrant
Book, No. L., pp. 33—4.]

46. Details of a plan for intercepting the Spanish fleet from the

West anha& 11'7 as the fleet of seven or nine vessels is exmnected

to be earlier than usual this year, and generally reaches the islands
before July or August, our ships should go at once to the islands, and
steer for 39 degrees, 20 or 30 leagues west of Florida, to intercept them
there, because they give three per cent. on their ooods to the King
of Spain to send a “fleet to the islands to convey them homew ards.
Endorsed, “Earl of Cumberland about intercepting of carracks.”

[1% pages.]

47. [Earl of Cumberland to Sec. Cecil?] As the Queen cannot
be drawn to so great an expense as 20,0007, for half the charge of a
flect of 25 ships and 4,000 men to annoy the King of Spain, she
would perhaps consent to a smaller sum. The three modes of
annoying the King would be to intercept his fleet for terra fiyma ;
to meet the fleet going for New Spain, or to take his carracks.
I have laid down a plan for the first, and it could be done for
15,0000,  Details of the mode of executing the other two projects:
The carracks might be intercepted at St. Helena, where they usnally
come, if the Queen set forth four vessels with 750 ien, victualled
for ewht months, and the States as many, to depart by J“u 10, and
the whole cost to both would only be 16, OOOZ but if the Queen
will not undertake the 15,0000, for the former enterprise, nor the
8,000 for the latter, my labour is in vain, and such an opportunity
of intercepting the terra firma fleet will not occur again for two
years. Endorsed [by Cecil], “Projects for the Indias” [Copy,
12 pages.]

48. Wm. Knyght, resident at Btade, to —. I have been in
company of Hugh Broughton, an Englishman, and heard him make

o
monstrous speeches of Her Majesty; as that he could not find

in his heart to pray for her, as she was an atheist, and 2 maintainer
of atheism, and therefore he would not come into the realm until
her death. He affirms that the King of Secots is the right successor
to the crown ; that he has been with him, and had promise of the
best office in the Exchequer, even if worth 1,000l a year. His
discontent with Her Majesty arises from not having been rewarded
by her for his travail.

On 25 Dee. last, belng in Frankford, travelling towards Strasburg,
he came to me %nd declar ed monstrous unfruths against her, and hLe
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has sown such lies about her in these parts of Germany that I could
not suffer longer in silence, and have signified this, that his tongue
might be shortened. He said that Her Majesty had a daughter,
which should be or was affianced unto the Prince of Condé, to
succeed after her decease; also that Her Majesty had been, of long
time past, married to Lord Chancellor Hatton had not Mrs. Ratcliffe
hindered it.

Also that it was true that one McDorell sent to a midwife in
London, who was taken in a coach by sundry ways to a palace at
Hampstead ; and the midwife, being carried up to a secret chamber,
where a lady lay in travail, was commanded to do her best and
preserve the lady, whatsoever became of the child; and after being
delivered of a daughter, she was brought to another chamber, where
was a very great fire of coals, into which she was commanded to
cast the child, and so it was burnt. This midwife was rewarded
with a handful of gold, and at her departure, one came to her with
a cup of wine, and said, Thou whore, drink before thou goest from
hence, and she drank, and was sent back to her house, where within
six days after she died of poison, but revealed this before her death ;
all which Le insinuated to be done for Her Majesty. [2 pages.]

49. The Queen to the Treasurer and Chamberlains of the Ex-

Westminster. chequer. It appearing by certificate of the Earl of Nottingham and

April 2.
The (fourt,
Whitehall.

April 2,

other navy officers, that there have been delivered into our storehouse
at Deptford and the Stillyard, by the Muscovy merchants and by
Thomas Honeyman, divers quantities of cordage, train oil, tar, and
rosin, for our use, the charges whereof amount to 14,9217 6s. 113d,,
we require you to pay such sum to Fulk Greville, Navy Treasurer,
to the use of the said company ; the payments to be at such times
as may be most convenient for us. Provided that out of the same
gross sum you apportion so much as is due to Honeyman, for the
rosin delivered by him. [Copy, £ page.]

50. Sec. Cecil to Att. Gen. Coke. T send you herewith Mr, Walshe,
said to have followed the Earl of Essex into London at his rebellion.
Take his examination and bond for his appearance next term.

P. 8. (holograph).—I find he was with him at the sheriff’s, in his
doublet and hose, with his sword point up, and came back with him
to Paul’s, so as I fear the gentleman doth not well understand his
danger, howsoever his inward purpose might be. You may take his
own bond. [5 puage.]

51, Examination of Walter Walshe, before Att. Gen. Coke.
Having been at the sermon at Paul’s, 8 Feb. last, he went to Charres,
a bookbinder in Paunl’s Church-yard, and was there when the Earl
of Hssex and his company came by ; followed them, and in Cheapside
ast off his cloak, and went in his doublet and hose, having a rapier,
which lie held right up.  Hearing some of the Karl's company cry
“ For the Queen !'” went with them until the Earl came to Sheriff
Smythe’s house.  Did not go in there. Coming back to fetch his
cloak, the Earl and his company overtocok him, but perceiving it
was a tumult, left them at the end of Cheapside ; went down towards
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Newgate Market, and came up by Paternoster Row, and so to Paul’s
Church-yard.

Does not remember the hour, but it was after dinner-time. Went
to an ordinary afterwards, found Mr. Moore and little Mr. Cope,
and tarried there until almost night. Coming down Cheapside,
where he took his cloak, would have tarried there, but the owner of
the house, being a mercer, desired him to go forth, as he was afraid;
could not get into any other house, as they were guarded with
halberds. Did not know the Earl of Essex, nor any of his followers,
save Lord Monteagle, whom he had seen at Bath. [1 page.]

52. Grant to William Sugden of the office of clerk of the Armoury
in the Tower of London, and manor of Greenwich from last Michael-
mas; fee, 2s. 6. a day, and 26s. 8d. a year for livery. 17 April
1589, Endorsed with note of a grant of the reversion of the said
office to John Benion, 2 April 1601. [2 sheets, Latin.]

53. Commission to Lord Adm. Nottingham, Sir John Fortescue,
Chancellor of the Exchequer, and 12 other legal and other officers,
to hear and determine the complaints of subjects of the French King
and other strangers, of spoils committed upon their ships and goods
by the English, with power to examine witnesses, with assistance
of Wm. Hareward, registrar of the Admiralty Court, and of several
aldermen and merchants of London. [Copy, 6% pages, Latin.]

Advices sent to Thos. Phelippes. * ¥ #* % The Scots say that
the Earl of Marr’s embassy into England is to demand from the
Queen, both by fair means and threats, a declaration of his master’s
title ; and if she refuse,  his master will do, yea marry will he.”
It is a shrewd Scotch trick, in such a time of general discontent in
England, to send a solemn embassy, with a train of such crafty-
headed fellows. If it were to congratulate the Queen on her escape
from the Earl of Essex’s dangerous conspiracy, he would have used
but a private gentleman, as the Queen did to him after the Gowrie
matter. But he has some further reach, and means to take his
opportunity in the general aversion which he finds in all estates
to the present government.

It is evident the late plot was laid by the Puritans. The principal
actors were zealous in that profession. The Earl showed it at his
arraignment, yet some in authority, whose throats those furious
spirits wonld have cut had they prevailed, seem to clear the guilty,
and impose the crime on the innocent Catholics. Thereupon they
have executed three or four poor priests (one condemned four or five
years ago), and Anne Lyne, a Catholic gentlewoman, only for har-
bouring priests. It is true Sir Chris. Blount, after living all his life
in seclusion, died a Catholic, but so might others who now stand at
the helm, if past hope of life, and in fear of further peril than the last
stroke of death ; but these proceedings have not been the first against
us, nor are they the last we must suffer. * * *

An Irishman recounts that masses are said openly in Waterford,
and the friars go a begging as openly as in times past, but this
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present persecution of Catholics in England and extraordinary
liberty in Treland hang not together. [Eztract, Flanders Corresp.]

54, List of 15 deeds relating to Sir John Perrott’s lands, from
1462 to 1568,  [1} puges.]

55. Account, by Ric. Gwynne, deputy auditor of Thos. Hanbury, of
the rents of Sir J. Perrott’s lands, specifying some as in lease to the
Earl of Essex, Lady Northumberland, and James Perrott; the rest
in the hands of Lady Perrott; total annual rental, 1,178. 2s. 10d.
[2 j)'lgv\]

56. Copy of the above, with slight differences. [2} pages.]

57. Another account of lands belonging to Sir Jno. Perrott, at-
tainted of high treasen, and now vested in Her Majesty by judg-
ment of the Cowrt of Exchequer; with particulars of the annual
value, and in whom the same were formerly vested. Also, note
that Thos. Perrott, the heir to the estate, has endured much injury
and wrong by Sir Gelly Meirick’s means, because he denied the
making of an estate to him, as Jas. Perrott, the natural son, did, but
would rather stand upon Her Majesty’s mercy, and Dhecause he
demanded writings that either belong to Her Majesty or himself,
as the only rizht heir of the Perrotts.  Therefore he entreats a lease
of the lordship of Langhare, Carew, and the islands adjoining, with
the cattle theveon, npon his paying the rent and giving the full value

4 RITORE S D ; A
for the cattle. [2 poges]

58. Confession of Thos. Smythe, before Lord Chief Justice Pop-
ham, Att. Gen. Coke, Sol. Gen. Fleming, and Fras. Bacon. On
Feb. 8, Sir Hen. Carew came to him, and said the Earl of Essex
desired he would send him Mr. Wootton, the preacher, according to
promise ; replied that he had never made any such promise ; heard
afterwards that the Earl had made the same request to Griffiths,
examinate’s servant.

When in Gracious Street, went from the Lord Mayor to the
Earl, and wished him to go to the Lord Mayoi’s, or his, examinate’s,
house, and they would take order for his safety ; but the Earl said
he would not go into any houge, but stay in the streets; he
took examinate’s horse by the bridle, and said “ I will go to Lud-
gate, and you shall go with me, so send for your arms.” Replied,
¢ Let me go and deliver your answer to the Lord Mayor, and I will
come to you again;’ being then encompassed with the Earl’s
company and in fear.

Coming from the sermon in Paul’s, a person came to him about
the conduit in Cheapside, and said, ©“ You will do well to look to
yourself, for my Lord of Essex willed me to tell you that if you be
in any perilhe will come to assist you himself.”

Two or three days after, Sir Jno. Scott told examinate that
Capt. Bromley had moved Sir Hen. Bromley about examinate’s
being warned beforehand by the Earl that he should not be sur-
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prised, but stand on his guard. Had no message from the Earl
before that, save one from Dr. Fletcher, which did not concern
these matters. [2 pages.]

59. Earl of Northumberland to Dudley Carleton, at the Hague.
T will answer you when I come over, which shall be shortly. As
to the opinion of the Low Countries of the Earl of Essex’s mar-
tyrdom, they will know it better one day, or if not, we must let
them think as they list. There is no talk here of peace or war; we
are all in charity, and free from faction; and, according to the
old fashion at home, delays are in as high estimation as ever.
3 puge.]

60. Sir W. Raleigh to Lord Cobham. I have written to Mr. Se-
cretary that I would be glad if Her Majesty were proved for Pawlett’s
matter; I hope not after it or aught else, but if there be neither
honour nor profit, I must begin to keep sheep betimes. Speaking
with my cousin Brett, a very honest geantleman, he complained of
the abuses offered to your Lordship about your wood sales. The
land will not let for half its value hereafter, secing there is not a
tree left upon it to build or mend a tenement, and it seems they
have sold the very hedgerows. I desired Brett to inquire inore
particularly, and he sent me a letter, which I enclose. As these
hiveling officers will undo us all, I hope you will come to the Bath.
If you hear that Bater’s house is taken up, it is bu tfor me, and you
may have one half, notwithstanding. I am where I can do you no
service, so will not pester you with idle words.

P.S.—Remember me to Lord Thomas [Howard]. [2 page.]

61. Serjeant John Hele to Lord Cobham. I am come to my
house at Kew, according to your letter, and remain at your service.
My Lord Keeper, by making himself rich, has made the office very poor,
contrary to my expectation and promises made. I assure myself
that my honourable fiiends will not think this reasonable, unless
Her Majesty will allow me to take the benefit that law will give
me to undergo so great a charge ; neither I have convenient
allowance, considering my late losses Ly the just attainder of the
Earl of Essex and his accomplices, for whom I must pay 4,0007. or
5,0000, Pray let me have some present end of it; whatsoever shall
please Her Majesty must content me. [2 page.]

62. Dr. Lionel Sharpe to Sec. Cecil. I told Vincent Skinner,
before leaving London, my affection towards you ; the proofs thereof,
before and since this late rebellion, I had rather you should hear by
others. I was placed in these western parts first by the letters of
my unfortunate master, after by yours to the Bishop of Exeter,
signifying Her Majesty’s pleasure in my behalf; therefore I am
bound to be thankful to you, as unto him, for this benefit,

I loved his person, hate his treason, and lament his ruin, though
deserved. I served him while he lived with truth rather than
with obsequiousness, so long as he was loyal. Now that he fell
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from his loyalty, I am taught by religion that private affections
must give place to public duties; and I am persuaded,—seeing he
so grieved, at his death, for that dispersed leprosy by which he had
envenomed a peaceable estate with a rebellious humour, that his
spirit would now rejoice if it could understand that any of his did
labour to stay this infection ; which makes me less esteem the
opinion of some who say that I have too bitterly censured hLis fault.
I would not blanch his offence, lest it might be drawn to imitation,
and disparage the justice of the State.

The vulgar sort are carried more by rumours than by truth. If
I have spoken my knowledge to satisfy unresolved minds, I have
done but my duty, and desire protection rather than commmendation.
I mean not so much of that public act of rebellion, which all men
condemn, as of those first roots and causes of discontentment which
I know arose from himself, though imputed to the malice of others
to drive him out. I have dealt lherein to some effect with some of
the chief of our country who most favour him,—men well affected
to the State and to your Honour; yet there are secret corners in
the hearts of wise men which such a one as I of a sudden cannot
dive into,

By my marriage in the house of Chichester (whereof Sir Arthur
Chichester is a special branch, whose love you have by descent, for
his father and brother were specially well affected to, and of your
honourable father), I am conversant with his nephew, the head of
his house, a gentleman of a generous spirit and excellent parts, and
willing to be embraced by you. All the gentry of these parts would
be glad to do you service, but whether you think it fit to embrace
them in these mutinous times I cannot tell. Your greatness draws
respect and goodness wins esteem.

I offer my small endeavours as testimonies of my allegiance to
Her Highness, and affection to your Honour. [2} pages. J

63. W Stallenge to Sec. Cecil. A mariner of this town has
just arrived, who has been a prisoner in Portugal. He left Lisbon
13 March, and reports that the 3,000 Italians transported in the

galleys from Seville still remain in the garrison at Lisbon, and that
no provision has been made to carry them away ; that all the ship-
pmo embargoed are set at liberty, and most of them gone; and that
six carracks and eight great ships of war would be ready to depart
towards the East Indies the end of the month. It was reported
in Lisboen that there were 3,000 more soldiers at the Groyne, which,
with the 3,000 Italians, should have passed through the Narrow
Seas for the Low Countu@s but durst not ventme as they under-
stood there was great pzepamtion made to intercept them.

A small French bark from St. Jean de Luz reports that the King
of Spain bas sent furniture for 40,000 men from Biscay to Barce-
lona, consisting of 10,000 pikes, 20, 006 muskets, and 10,000 calivers,
which were carried to Pampeluna by horse, and from thence in carts
to Barcelona ; and that the Turk is feared in those parts, Her
Majesty’s ship Tremontaine has taken in her victuals to end 5 Aug.
and is ready to depart with the first wind. [1 page.]
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64. George Selby, mayor of Newcastle, and W. Chapman to Sec.
Cecil. We send you a suspicious letter to a young man in this
town, and the examinations of all the persons connected with its
delivery, whom we keep in safe custody till your further pleasure,
The customers of this port have diligently observed your directions
to search into the like matters. It was through them the letter
came into our hands, but we employ divers officers in such services.

[} page]

64. L

64, IL

Encloses,

to his cousin, Win. Claxton, servant to Mr. Jeni-
son, jun., Neweastle, England. My purtner and I have
by good fortune prepaved our merchandise; acguaing
Jolmn, Joseph Lance, and Christopher ; if they be well, and
thimk it convenicnt, winl if yeu have not, as we mightily
fear, been troubled since ousr departure, certify thereof by
the bearer. You may soon expect us, if wind and oppor-
tunity serve. [Scrap.]

Eramination of Wm. Claxton, servant to Wim. Jenison,
gun., of Newcastle-on-Tyne, merchant, before Gaoue
Selby, mayor, and Wm. Chapman, alderman and justice
of the peace. Was in France « year and « half since,
but conversed with no Englishmen, except soine of New-
castle, who were there for merchandise, or to leuwrn the
language, and all well affected. Has no kinsman beyond
seas, nor was privy to the departing of any. Has mnot
corresponded with any one in France. Cannot write
general answer to the letter shown him, mnot knowing
Srom whom it comes. [I page.] April 13, 1601,

64 11 Ezemination of Peler Potingey of Abbeville. DBrought

64, 1v.

over in his ship rice, hut wo Catholic books, except such us
he and his company wse. Brought over no passengers, nor
any letter except that awhich he delivered to Wm. Michelson,
who said he would give it to the muyor. It was given
Lim by an Englishinan at dbbeville, whomn Le has Enown
by sight a year, but knows not Lis name. [ page.]

Ezamination of Win. Michelson, mariner of Newcastle.
Asked Potingey whether Le had brought over any letters
or pussengers; he said not, but afterwards confessed to
the aforesaid letter, and gave it him unsealed ; took it {o
Mr. Pitts, and then copied and took it to the mayor. [}
puge.]

64. v. Second examination of Wimn. Claaton, of Newcastle, before

George Selby, mayor, and Hen. C’hcapmcm, alderman.
Has no kinsfolk in France, nor has ever wecetved mnor is
expecting books, letters or merchandise thence, and knows
no one gone there.  Was never «t Abbeville, mor ac-
quainted with any Englisl, seminary there or elsewhere,
nor with the passing of suspected persons out of the realm.
Knows not the writer of the letter, nor why it wus written
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to him, but knows persons of the numes mentioned

therein.  [L page.] April 15, 1601,
1. Like examinat z'“n of Pct - Potingey, of dbbeville. The
letter to Clazton was given Lim by an English friend 10
days before hzs Zeavving Never brought letters ov mer-
chandise from Fronce, though he has lived Lere 10 years.
Knows neither the party who gave Lim the letter, nor that
to whom it was directed.  Gave it to Wm. Michelson to

deliver.  [§ page.] April 15, 1601.
G+. vii. Like examination of Win. Michelson, of Newcastle, master

mariner.  Received the letter open on Euster c7(n, and
thought it better to deliver it to Mv. Mayor. Does not
remember that M. Piit>, when i company with kim and
Peter Potingey, asked Potingey if he had brought any
letters for Lngland, nor mentioned any divection he hLad
lo inquive tito such matters.  [§ page] pril 15, 1601,

65. Dr. Chris. Bagshaw to Sec. Cecil. The Spanish faction against
our country increases in deceit, and preparations of revenge ad-
vance ; some deny, others maintain all former disgraceful attempts
against Queen and State. The former may be convinced by origi-
nal letters, the latter rebutted by your accepting our employment
against disloyal practices. As delay hinders much, pray grant us a
speedy answer. [ poge]

G66. Dr. John Jegon, Vice-Chancellor of Cambridge, to Scc. Cecil.
Being ready to come up to attend you with the enclosed, I received
your letters advertizing us of your forwardmess to hear our
grievances. I acquainted the heads of colleges therewith, and we
are all ready to conform oursclves to your wishes, and will present
our particulars by some one able to inform you and attend you.

[§ page.]  Encloses,

66. 1. Dr, John Jegon, vice-chancellor, and seven other hecds of
colleges at Cambridge, to Sec. Cecil.  Though wunacilling to
interupt your great affairs, the disposition of owr town
adversaries, the hard issue of our forbearance, and yowr
loving divection given ws when with yow, embolden ws
to acquaint you by the bearer, our wice-chancellor, of the
wrongs offered against owr charters by « few principal
authors heve, preswimiig that yow will find how to deliver
us jfrosz thetr insolent vexations, and to provade that the
impunity of their violating our known privileges be no
occasion to continue the like boldness in their posterity ;
and lastly, thereby show how great benefit we receive by
your means, in being delivered from so many violences
as have not in the memory of man been Z)cfore offered
to this poor university. Cambridge, April 22, 1601,

66. 1. Complaints of the town of Cumbridge against the univer-
gity, and answer of the university to their articles, They
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deny that they exceed their charters, and say that most of
the material matters were heard and debated on by the
Attorney General and Mr. Bralyn, deputy vecorder of
the town, by appointment of the present Lovd Chief Jus-
tice of England, in the piresence of botl bodies, in the
vacation of 1598, and hawve since been ansicered in wiriting
to the Archbishop of Canterbury, the Lord Keeper, and
Mr., Attorney General, to whicl, answer they partly vefer,
and their further answer they give to the wrticles in
detail :—

Town 1. There is one commission of the peace for the
town and university, yet the justices and magistrates
of the wniversity affirimn thet no scholur or scholii’s
servant ought to be attached by any warrants of peuce,
good belavious, or jfor bustard clildren, but by o justice
of the university, although the party privileged breaks
the peace in sight of « justice of the town ; neither will
they «llow o supersedeas granted by any justice of the
towi, where the warrant jfor the peace is nade by «
justice of the wiiversity, but they grant supersedeas to
warrants of the peace granted by « justice of the town
against pevsons privileged and not privileged, aid they
do nol certify at the quarter sessions recognizances
taken by them for the peace nor for alchouses, so that
it camnot be known whether any are bownd or not.

niv. 1. They have done nothing but what they can
gustify.

Town 2. They alzo license above 100 fo keep ale-
houses, and take money for granting licences to viclual
thevein, and jor victuclling boolls in the jfuir there,
and claim the sole authority to do so, althougl they
have mot any charter or commvission other than the
general comanission of the peace.

Univ. 2. Challenge the sole authority of giving
licence to victual in ale-louses and victualling booths,
and only license a competent nwmber, 30.  The rest of
the article is untrue.

Town 3. The Vice-Chancellor and Convmissary lold
pleas both in the town and fairs, upon penal statutes,
and proceed according to civil law, and enforce the
defendants to answer wpon oath to accuse themselves.

Univ. 3. The Vice-Chancellor and Commissary
sometimes hold pleas wpon penal statutes warranted by
charters, whereas the town vsually holds plea, wpon
penal statutes wherein the Queen is party, without any
charter.

Town 4. The university having no leet, but having «
special grant to inquire of forestallers and engrossers,
yearly keeps trwo cowrts which they call leets, and inquire
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of and punish offences as well inquirable as not in-
quirable 10 a lect, viz., dressing of flesh on fish days,
shoemakers for buying hard tallow, chandlers for
Litchen stuff, butchers for Eilling calves under age, and
mamny other penal statutes.

Univ. 4. Crave to have leet by prescription, and
at the time of their said lect (and for the case of the
townsmen who ave compellable to serve in « quest
of inquiry touching fovestalling, regrating, ingros-
sing, omd, victuals, as often as the officers of the uni-
versity require), they 9 do by oath then imguire of fore-
stalling, regrating, ingrossing, &c. and of such penal
statutes and laws as concern offences of that kind, but
not olherwise.

Town 5. Instead of actions of tresspass at cominon
law, actions of injury are brought im the university
courts against free burgesses, wherein the plaintiff re-
cords as much for damages as ke on outh affirms himself
to be damnified, under @ certain sum prefized by the
Jgudge, notwithstanding that free burgesses of Cam-
bridge, by charter of Edward II., ought mot to be so
convicted but by their fellow burgesses. They also hold
pleas against free burgesses in actions of injury for
which no action is given by common law, and pretend
that none of their judgments are reversible or to be
controlled by any superior court.

Univ. 5. Have quthority to Lold plea of actions of
injuries by express words in their clarters, viz., om-
nimodorum placitorum personalivm et injuriarum, and
in all actions they proceed according to the civil laws,
neither has the town any charter that privileges them
n all cases to be tried by their fellow burgesses, because
the wniversity Las awtherity to hold plea in all actions
where o scholar or Lis servant is party. The university
tules it that no judge or justice ought to intermeddle
in suclh actions, as pleinly appears by their chavters
confirmed by Aet of Purlivgment.

Town 6. Under colour of the clevksiip of the market,
they tolerate Lilling, eating, and dressing of flesh wpon
Jish days, killing flesh in Lent in great abundance,
and taking money for such toleration ; and they
tolerate bakers and brewers abuating their assize of
bread and beer in the fuir {ime.

Town 7. Theuniversity officers give Licence to badyers
and Eidders to carry corn and victuuls out of the town,
but restrain the inhabitants, and they take fowls,
corn, &e. from many in the market, or composition for
their toleralion.

Town 8. The proctors and tuxers, by the office of clerk
of the market, have usually taken exactions for victuuls
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sold there and in the fairs, as oysters, &e., whereby the
price is inereased, and the bringers discouraged.

Town 9. They yearly take1s. jor every bushel, viz., for
ats use in the town 4d., and for the wse in Midsummer
Juir 4d., and in Stoni bridge fuir 4d.; and 1d. for
every weight used in the town, viz., from @ stone weight
to « quarter of an ownce, and the like in the two fairs.

Univ. 6,7,8,9. The Vice-Clancellors license one
butcher in Lent to kill and sell flesh to sueh as, by
geason of sickness and infirmity, may lowfully cat it
They cannot answer the wrticles whicl charge officers of
the wniversity until the persons be nwmed, and the
abuses charged upon particular parties; but arve per-
swaded that the officers have taken no composition or
Jees but such as usually Lave been talen and aie wai-

vanted by charter, for the chief magistrate never heard
« coniplaint zouc]eznf/ the exactions suggested.

Town 10, They of the uwiversity, in open sessions
of pecce, affirmed that scholurs’ servants, vetainers, or
privileged persons ought not to appear or serve at the
sesstons or gaol delivery, although tudicted for keeping
dicing houses, bowling alleys, &c.

Univ. 10. Think no privileged person of the uni-
wersity compellable to appear at the quarter sessions or
guol delivery but by process from the Vice-Claacellor,
Sfor any cause whatsoever, felony only excepted.

Toun 11. The university cluim allowance of using
trades in the town and fairs, and sue divers in their
cousts concerning the same, which matter belongs to the
ancyor of the town ; and the wniversity allow some
avhich have not served apprentices for sevein yeawrs.

Univ. 11. Do not allow the using of trades contrary
to laaw, and have as great authorvity to deal in such
snatlers, where a privileged person is party, as the
snayor has anongst the burgesses.

Town 12, Many substantial freemen of the town,
and others of the vicher sovt, to be freed from musters,
subsidies, service of lhe Queen at sessions, post loirses,
und other town charges, obtain some colour of the pri-
wilege of the university by bailiwicl, receiving little or
n0 rent, as laundresses perforiing little or no service,
and as retainers giving little or no attendance, by
means whereof the persons privileged who are Jit to be
the subsidy men exceed the number of the free burgesses,
und the subsidy is abated to necr Lalf the former sum,
albeit the wealth of the town is as great as it has been
within memory.

Unir. 12. Do wnot take into privilege other persons
than such as they may lawfully by charter of 31 Eliz.;
and the vest of the aiticle they afivin to be untrue, as
lately proved before the Barvons of the Exclhequer.

C
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Town 13. Their officers, on pretence of searching in
the night for suspected persons, break open the doors of
Lonest inhabitants giving no couse of suspicion. The
like they also do both by day and night, under pretence
to search for dressing of flesh on prohibited days.
They convert to their own wuse all the forfeitures for
dressing flesh on fish days, and do not give the third to
the poor as they ought by statute.

Uwiv. 18. Their officers make no other search than
suech as they may do by charter ; and they convert no
Jorfeitures to their own use buf such as are granted
them by charter, for which they pay Her Majesty 101 ¢
year. :

Town 14. In the time of Edward VI (there being
then but 14 colleges, and 12 of them not bound thereto
by law), they of mere charity contributed to the relief
of the poor 26s. every week ; before the last statute of
39 Eliz. the colleges monthly contributed 51 6s. 8d. to
the poor ; but since there being 16 colleges, all of greater
wealth than in times past, each college known in what
parish it 4s by their burials, d&ec., though bound by the
statute to contribute 1o the poor, yet for a year and
more they did not contribute at all, and then only
8s. dd. weekly, being 6d. « college, though the number of
the poor by their means are much increased.

Univ. 4. The colleges have always been forward to
velieve the joor of the town, although not bound by law,
and since the ciztute for the velief of the poor 39 Eliz.,
hawve had @ special care of them, and joined with the
town for contribution to the poorer parishes. The towns-
men have withdrawn their weelkly contributions from
the pooiest parishes for nearly a yewr, but the wni-
versity Luve continued their benevolence.

Town 15. The scholars when in taverns, alehouses,
dre. misuse all free buvgesses, and in particular the
magistrales, and also in their plays and sermons.

Univ. 15. Deny being disorderly ov misusing the
Jree burgesses and magistrates in plays, sermons, dc.
Neither do they know of any abuse offered them in
taverns, &e., except only that on 23 April last, cevtain
scholars in « tavern spoke il of the mayor and his
brethren awhen passing by, for which they were all
purnished and censurved by the Vice-Chancellor and
Dr. Newill, Dean of Canterbury.

Town 16. The Vice-Chancellor end lis deputy and
other officers send many to prison in the Tolbooth in
Cambiidge, wpon executions, &c. without mittimus or
warrant in writing, so that at the gaol delivery the
couse of their imprisonment does not appear, and the
gaoler is oftentimes threatened and sometimes sued for
Jalse imprisoniment.
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Univ. 16. The Vice-Chancellor or his deputy do, ac-
cording to ancient custom and charters, send prisoners
to the Tolbooth or Custle without warrant in writing,
declaring by word to the gaoler the cause of the im-
prisowment, wpon which word the gaoler is bound to
take and keep such prisoners. [7 pages.]

April 27. 67. Dr. G. Abbott, Vice-Chancellor of Oxford, and Dr. Thos.
University  Ravis, Dean of Christchurch, to Lord Treasurer [Buckhurst, Chan-
College. gellor of Oxford University], Sackville House. As it was no small
comfort to us that in the business of the late Farl of Essex, none
resident in our university interested themselves, so it is a great gvief
that now any, although but of mean place, should be deemed to
have been over busy thereabout; but where many are, some will

bear themselves unadvisedly.

On Thursday night last, Abraham Colfe, B.A., of Christchurch,
publicly in the hall, made a very offensive declaration, and hearing
that it was disliked, went to his chamber, tore his written copy,
and burnt the pieces, but being required by me, the Vice-Chancellor,
to deliver me his oration the next morning, he sat up almost all
night, and transcribed a declamation far different from the former,
so that we were forced to take the sum of his speech by the testi-
mony of many that heard him, of which we send you an abstract.
We desire directions; we committed the offender to safe custody.
[1 page] Emnclose,

1601,

67. 1. Note signed by Dr. Abbott of matters witnessed to be spoken
by Abraham Colfe. His theme was Pejor morte est
modus mortis. His beginning was wery passionate,
« Parcite, auditores, amori meo, quia amens ecst,” and
“ oceidit una domus, sed non domus ista pevire digna fuit.”
He commended a great gencral of the wars lately dead,
whom he called Veri Dux, extolling most Lighly his in-
Sfaney, young years, and man’s age, his embracing of
learned men and warriors, who «ll followed him wiilout
pay, he calling lLis soldiers not milites, but commilitones
mei. He was Pater Patrice.

He named the jowrney to Cadiz, his own forwaidness
there and felicity, and Low men looked on Lim returiing
tanquam in solem orientem ; for he beggared himself to
maintaim his soldiers.

Ile spoke also of amother jouwrney, whence returning
men looked on him tanguam in solem occidentem. A fter
his coming home, ke was pessime tractatus, quia cum esset
imperator, imperata non fecerit. His virtue, which drew
upon bim the envy of greut personages, was the couse of
his overthrow. He inveighed against the enemies who
brovght kim to Lis end, maming three, some of whom
were a publicis consiliis.  One he called pestem rei-
publicze, hominem ex fiece oriundum, exrore populi dig-
nitatem consecutum- Another Charybdim, si modo ulla

c 2
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sit Charybdis, hoc animal est. The third semen omnium
malorum.  These accused him of aspiring to ¢ kingdon.

He showed his breaking out into o city, his marshalling
of men in the streets there; Low one was slain at his
Joot ; Lis veliving Lo Lis house liis being besieged theve ;
Lis specch from the house ; Jiis yielding of himself, and
carrying to prison; how the cvecutioner had three strokes
at lis head, that Lis very enemies could mot choose but
aweep when they saw his head cut off ; yet that it was mot
loawful for Lis wife and sister to bewail Lim. These
things he lamented with O lachrymee, lachrymee, ubi estis ?
And flumina nulla neque amnem libavit quadrupes, nec
graminis attigit herbam. Since his death, que domus
fuit virtutum, domicilium fit libidinum vorago. And pro
molli viold carduus, et pro hordeis infelix lolium et avense
oriuntur. Ilis conclusion was, “ You have heard of the
life and death of « worthy general, but etiam doleo quod
hiee pauca pennigero, non armigero, in corpore tela exer-
ceantur.” [1} puges.] April 23, 1601,

68. Inventory of brass and other ordnance, muskets, munition,
&e. inthe fort of St. Nicholas’s island, Plymouth, delivered over to
Sir John Gilbert, governor, by Christopher Harris, by order from
the Privy Council.  Signed by them and by Ed. Dodington. [2
sheets.]

69. Memorandum by John Bridges, of Estington, co. Worcester,
that he has received from John Taverner a copy of the patent of
the manor of Hanley, in the same county, on promise of re-delivery
on demand, as also a letter from Mr. Hornihold to the Lord Trea-
surer and Chancellor of the Exchequer. [1 page.]

70. Note of patents and other records from 1 John to 9 Edward IV.,
seen by Mr. Denton, by warrant of the Attorney General, dated
30 Jan. 1601, [3% payes.]

71. Instructions prescribed by the Queen to the Commissioners
for Fines and Ransoms, to be assessed upon the offenders in the late
insurrection of 8 Feb,

First. That you assemble in the beginning of next term, and
take order for committing offenders not alr eady in ward to prison,
as algo for the time and phce of sitting for the speedy execution
of the commission.

Item. In assessing fines and ransoms, you are to regard the
quality of the ofitnder and of Lis offence, and his estate in lands,
livings, goods, debts, &e., that rcasonable and proportionable
fines may be taken

Ttem. Such fine and ransom is not to be expressed in the pardon,
but in a paper to be affixed to the bill to be signed by us, giving
the state of the offender and the quality of his offence.
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Ttem. We charge you to do your utmost for the speedy execu-
tion of the commission, not yielding to the entreaty of any
person.

Item. Order is to be taken that so much of the said fines and
ransoms as possibly can be obtained be paid before the pardon
passes the Great Seal, and that good assurances be taken for the
rest. [1 page. Draft in Coke's hand.]

72. [George Kendall to Sec. Cecil] I went to Brussels with
Capt. Smith, but the Duke refused our services, being advised by
Moran Swart, Richardot, Jaques, Typing, and others, not to accept
them, but to entertain us a month with hopes of pensions, to learn
our true meaning, and then to expel us the country, as he treated
Weeks. I have tried various ways to win their confidence, as by
offering to deliver Sir Fras. Vere, with thousands of men, into their
bands, &c. I feigned an intended journey to Hungary, to serve the
Kmperor ; then went to Father Lewknor, an English priest, regent
of the Shene, to say I was weary of soldier life, and wished to go
to England to settle my affairs, and return to enter the Jesuit
College. I went in disguise to Ruremond ; was first taken for a spy,
and put in irons, but obtained release and succeeded in surveying
the place. After perils from freebooters, I rcached the Hague., 1
told the plot to Sir Fras. Vere, and also to his Excellency, who
approved, and six others will be brought into the town to forward
the execution. I have leave to stay 15 days, to provide a dozen
weapons for execution, which Mr. Honeyman has promised. Weeks
was persuaded by Baldwin to write letters about Count Fuentes as
coming from Savoy to besiege Ostend, how Count Maurice was
to have seconded the Earl of Essex’s proceeding, as was also the
Duke of Bouillon, with great munition, &e., the King of Spain’s
making peace in Savoy with Irance, &c.

I was told by Father Lewknor that the ruin of England was sure ;
the government all in the hands of one man, a professed enemy to
the Catholics; the State apt to rebel, as all policies condemn a govern-
ment which does not participate with other foreign kingdoms; that
Sir R. Cecll intends to be king, by marrying Arabella, and now lacks
only the name; for he has the quarter mastership with the Admiral,
aund thercfore strong at sea ; has,the Cinque Ports in the hands of hig
dearest friend ; his brother has the kingdom of the north; Wales,
now void, will be put into assured hands ; his kindred and wealth
are great ; he has made Lord Thos. Howard governor of the Tower,
and will force the city to make him king. Lord Shrewsbury,
who can remove the blocks from the way of the marriage, is for
him, thinking he cannot better establish his house ; however Cecil
will find that a third faction, which must be Catholic, will join the
others ; this should be thie Infanta, as she has great spirit, and
would reward any who should remove Cecil. As to the King of
Scots, it would be no mastery to wrest the sceptre out of Lis hands.
I professed to wish to be the man to effect the Infanta’s wishes.

John Tipping, late lieutenant to Capt. Stanley, a dangerous fellow,
is coming over for your patronage. I caution you not to speak
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with any from abroad except in the company of good men; the
proudest there can do no service for England if debauched in
coming over ; meanwhile there is not much fear, they are so en-
sconsed that no man can come to them. Endorsed [by Cecil]
“ Kendall employed.” [3% pages.]

73. Sir Hen. QGuildford, Roger Bodenham, Giles Forster, and
Rob. Bury, to Lord Treas. Buckhurst. In executing our commis-
sion for enquiring of certain lands and tenements in the county of
Hereford, belonging to the late Earl of Essex and others attainted
of high treason, we took notes of sundry deeds and writings which
we enclose, and wait further commands. [2 page.] Emnclose,

73. 1. Notes and remembrances of the dates, parties, and effects
of the conveyances made by Robert, late Burl of Essex, of
tis manors and lands in Herefordshire, and of his goods,
chattels, and lands. Also valuation of the goods of Sir
Gelly Merrick, attainted of treason, and seized by the
sheriff, 4611 10s. 2d., and of other lands of his and Sir
Edw. Baynham’s. Also valuation of the lands of John
Littleton, also attwinted, at Highley, co. Sulop, and of his
goods, 1491, 16s. 8d. [3 sheets.]

74. Thomas Payne, Mayor of Plymouth, to Sec. Cecil. I send the
examination of Thos. Hall of our town, mariner, who has been a
prisoner in Spain. [} page.] Encloses,

74. 1. Ezamination of Thos. Hall, of Plymouth, mariner, before
Thos. Payne, mayor. Went to sew in a man-of-waer,
in Nov. 1599, for the West Indies, where he and others
were taken prisoners, and kept siw months ; they were
then sent prisoners to St. Lucar, where they arrived
last November, and were vetained until the March follow-
ing ; then shipped Limself in « ship of Dieppe, and
arrived at Plymouth on the 2nd instant.  On his coming
away, there were 30 French, Dutch, and other ships at St.
Mary port, embargoed by the King, to be made ready
before the end of this month for carrying 5,000 ¢ 6,000
soldiers for Ircland, and here were also cevtain shallops
built there with decks for that service; of this fleet Pedro
de Sevior is appointed general. Divers seminaries have
gone out of Spain for England and Ivelund. All or
most of the muriners appointed for this service are Irislh,
French, Dutch, English, and o few Spanish. [1 page.]

May 3, 1661.

75. Examination of Thomas Box before Lord Treas. Buckhurst.
On 8 Feb. examinate with John Ireland, his father-in-law and
alderman’s deputy for the ward of Bread Street, attended Lord
Burghley, with 800 citizens, and passing down Cheapside to
Gracious Street, met the Earl of Essex and a great number of his
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party, who had arrived from Sheriff Smythe’s house; and being
thus joined, they had a hot fight for awhile. Was shot through bis
doublet, but his flesh not pierced. One Cox, his man, was hurt t, and
divers others. Many shots were made by the Earl’s company against
the Queen’s side, and they having no shot at all, but only halberts,
and such like short weapons, were forced to retive. This fight was
after Lord Burghley bad made proclamation in Gracious Street.
In thisfight William Masham, son to William Mashaw late alderman
of London, was with the Earl of Essex, with his rapier drawn, and
a coif of gold and silver on his head, without hat or cap, and was
thereby more noted than any sther.

After Lord Burghley was gone, Masham came to examinate and
prayed bim to bear wituesg that after the proclamation, he was
ready to depart, and had no weapon drawn ; seeing that his weapon
was then pub up, and he was ready to depart, promised to testify so
much for him.  With notes by Dr. Jul. Ceesar and W. Waad that
examinate acknowledged the truth of the above before them on
17 Feb. 1602, [24 pages. In Lovd Buckhurst's hand.]

76. Like examination of obt. Smith, servant to Thos. Box,
Hearing that his master had gone with the alderman’s uenutv to
(Gracious Street, on 8 Feb., to assist Lord Burghley in making pro-
clamation against the Earl of Essex, and that he had broken his
halbert in fight, and was in danger to have been slain, took another
halbert, and ran out into the street to seek his master. Coming to
Gracious Street, saw the Earl’s party standing in the lower part of
the street, towards Fenchurch Street, and the Queen’s party coming
against them. When they joined there was a very hot fight, and divers
were hurt on the Queen’s side, amongst them two servants, one of Uox,
a salter, and one of Widow Buck, a brown baker. When the Iarl’s
party came upon the Queen’s side, they, being too wenlk, retived
back ; heard that Alderman Masham’s son was there on the Kuarl's
side, with a golden-wrought night cap on his head, and his rapier
dmwn. A Week before Lliat Eastez Thomas Coke, servant to the
said Mr. Masham, asked examinate if he had told Tlms. Adams,
servant to Mr. Warcap, who is brother-in-law to Masham, that the
latter wasin the figlit; denied it then, but now confesses that he had
told him so, then Cloke 1ephu1 that he had his own rapier drawn, but
that his master had not. With notes by Dr. Jul. Ceesar and W, Waad
that examinate acknowledged the truth of the above before them on
17 Feb. 1602, [4 pages. In Lovd Buckhurst's hand.]

77. Geo. Whitton to Dudley Carleton, at the Hague. Your letter
put me in remembrance of your care and my nodx%nce in writing.
I could have written whole volumes of the Fssex rebellion, btk
passages were stopped, letters intercepted, and such discourses were
unfit and dangerous for all sorts.  Now for court news :—St. George’s
day is passed ; the King of Scots is made knight of the garter, so
are Lords Derby and Burghley ; my Lord of Worcester is master of
the horse ; my Lord of Cobham married to the Countess of Kildare ;
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Mr. Secretary said to have Mrs, Bridges, and Lady Thos. Norris
likely to be Countess of Desmond.

There go 1,500 men to Lough Foyle to Sir Hen. Dockwray.
We receive all good news, and an end of the wars is expected the
end of summer. My Lord Governor wills that of the money you
have received or are to receive, you should make over 1007 which
he has given to Capt. Wenman and myself, the rest to be disbursed
in jewels, &c. according to his promise. Pray fail not against
Whitsuntide.

Your brother was present at Englefield on receipt of your letter,
and hopes you will write by the next. Lord Norris is very well,
and likely to live long. My Lady is likely to have a cropping boy.
I would you had made an end of your travel that we might have
your company to instruct us in some state matters. If forces come
over this summer, I hope to see you, and that Mr. Gilpin will
make amends for some wrong he did me in writing against me into
Ireland. With a commendatory note by Capt. Thomas Wenman.
[2 pages.]

78. The Queen to the Mercers’ Company, London. We request for
Wm. Lewson, citizen of London, and one of your company, a lease
in reversion of the house called the Golden Key, in Cheapside, on
reasonable fine and rent. We recommend him thereto, on account of
his honest carriage in the late stirs in the city. [ page. Draft.]

79. Examination of Martin Merrie and Adam Harber, merchants
and burgesses of Ayr, Scotland, taken at Liverpool, before Jno.
Bird, mayor. Came from Ayr in a boat laden with Gascony wines,
to seek the best market, and arriving at Beaumaris, met Geo.
Askine, a countryman ; they used some conference and familiarity.
Not finding vent for their commodities, came to Liverpool, and there
received letters from Askine, by Rowland Griffith, his messenger,
residing at Beawmaris. One of them was directed to Sce. Cecil,
another to the Lord Deputy of Ireland, another to the Eairl of
Argyle, and the fourth to Siv Thos. Askine, of Goger. The first
they returned, as being merchants, they could not undertake to ride
post, according to Askine’s request. The second was delivered to
Walter Heynes, a sailor, dwelling at Burton head, to be conveyed
to his Lordship, and the rest they have, as also the letter in which
they were enclosed. [11 sheets.]

80. Examination of Michael Coster, of Dantzie. Was at Lisbon
on Palm Sunday, when five carracks lay there ready to go for the
Hast Indies, as also seven galleys for the safeguard of the river.
Did not hear of or see any soldiers being got in readiness.
Lz page]

81. Sir John Gilbert to Sec. Cecil. I send you the enclosed ex-
amination, rather for a confirmation of what the mayor has already
informed you than any hope I have to be the first. I trust that
you will order that I may be acquainted with intelligenee of any
preparation of the enemy, so that I may be the better prepared, and
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you the more assured and the less troubled with frivolous intel-
ligences. The mayor to this day has not acquainted me therewith,
nor had I ever known it but by the examination of a second person.
[1 page.]

82. J. Throckmorton to his cousin Thos. Windebank, clerk of the
Signet. I have been silent for fear of troubling you, but am now
pressed to try my friends. I want you to deliver my letter to
Mr. Secretary, and to favour my cause with him, and get him to
accept my offer of service. You may assure him boldly that I only
make this offer through gentlemanlike affection, not necessity.
Whether you prevail or not, I will thank you for the trial. He 1s
the first to whom I ever offered such service, and I hope I shall
not be refused. We have exchanged letters, and made a little way
in it already. [1% pages.]

83. J. Throckmorton to Mr. Windebank. I know these things
eannot well be compassed without gratifying some of his [Cecil’s]
near followers, or others employed. None bub you must know it,
but T will give 20/ a year to whomever he appoints, as long as I
continue in employment either of captain in this cautionary town of
Flushing, or serjeant-major of the garrison, as I have been this
threc years. My plain meaning is, if I -prevail not, let my offer go
no further. I want to be acquainted with one of his honestest
followers, to whom I may write in your absence. [1 page.]

84. Ralph Lord Eure to Sec. Cecil. I entreat favour for the
release of my brother, Sir Wm. Eure, though I durst not hazard
misinterpretation from the Queen, whose favour I hold dearer than
life, had I not satisfied myself of his innocency of capital erimes.
Persuade my gracious Sovereign to esteem him a young plant of a
loyal, faithtul, and serviceable house, whose fault may be imputed
rather to the sparks of youth than wilful disobedience, and to
release him from his endurance and misery, and enjoin him in ser-
vices whereby his loyalty may daily appear. I durst engage my
body for him that he will strive to recover his lost favour. I hope
that neither he nor I shall ever be commanded by any prince but
Queen Elizabeth, and the hesrt that is faithless to her would be
justly punished and censured. If my poor service might ransom
my brother’s faults, I would draw my aged joints to more nimble
courses, and creep in her service to my last breath. [2 page.]

85. Names and addresses of 16 fugitives taken by the ship Lion
in Tilbury Hope, with note that the plot of conveying them away
was made by Linton of Mepsall, in Bedfordshire, lately a recusant
imprisoned in the Clink, and that one of them, John Hake, a tailor
of Battlebridge, Southwark, was used as an instrument to procure
the boat to carry them down. It is surmised that Thos. Johnson, of
Bankside, a waterman, is a special man to carry away young gentle-
men. They were to have been carried to Calais in a boat belonging
to Cornelius Nabs of Calais. Linton lodges at the Bell in Coleman
Street.



42

1601.

May 37

Brussels,

May 20.

DOMESTIC—ELIZABETH.

Vor. CCLXXIX.

Upon their examination, they all confessed themselves to be
recusants, and hound over sea for their conscience, and the boys
were all sent up to Linton to be conveyed away. [1 page.]

to , Licge. George More, who came here about
the Spanish title, and left in discontent for Scotland, has returned
thence still more disgusted, and proclaims the King a dissembler, pro-
mise-breaker, inconstant, and given privately to drunkenness; that
he quarrels with his wife, and had thought of putting her in prison,
but was dissuaded by his Council. He says that the King was in
correspondence with the Earl of Essex; that Mr. Eure, going to
Scotland on pretence of making brotherly friendship with the Scots,
had a secret conference with the King whilst hunting, and proposed
that if anything were attempted in England, when he saw others
on foot, he would assist with 5,000 men. More says a Councillor in
Secotland told him this, and that the King was persuaded Essex and
his friends would have stood for him ; More reports that when it
was asked among Essex’s friends why they should send for the
King of Scots, seeing the dangers that might ensue if they pre-
vailed ; it was answered that it was only to persuade the King that
they pretended for him, and thus prevent his opposing them ; but
if they found their own power sufficient, and the people applauded
their doings, they would put the crown on the Earl of Essex’s head,
and let the Scot go shoe goslings. The King bears a great tooth
against Sir Rob. Cecil, and though on representations of his barber,
who is in great credit with him, he makes outward show of good
affection towards him, yet when he dares, he speaks bitterly against
bim, and threatens revenge if it lie in his power.

Among the people of Scotland there is no talk but England, Eng-
land, of which they think to make havoc, and every man to be a
gentleman with the spoil of the English. News from Paris still
concur that the French King has an eye towards England. T pray
that John Franco’s printed almanac for this year may not be true.
It says under August, “In Anghi mutationes accident.” [Flanders
Corresp., Bxtract.)

86. Certificate by Wm. Dethick, garter king-of-arms, and Wm.

College of Arms, Camden, Clarencieux. Mr. Hen., Sackford, master of tents and

London.

pavilions to the Queen, upon some wrong publicly offered him
touching precedence, because he would not challenge his right,
has required us to search the register of our office ; we certify that
we find that especial regard has been always taken for the placing of
officers of dignity pertaining to the Crown, and that Sackford is
master as aforesaid, with all rights as ample as any of his predeces-
sors, having thereby a place of dignity as a special attendant on the
Prince’s person and for the pavilions, with allowance of 500 men in
pay during the time of such service, and that it was lately adjudged
by Wm. Lord Burghley, late Lord Treasurer and deputy Earl
Marshal of England, assisted by Sir Christ. Hatton, Lord Chancel-
lor, Henry Lord Hudson, Lord Chamberlain, with other commis-
sioners assigned for the ordering and marshalling that solemn pro-
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ceeding before Her Majesty, to St. Paul’s cathedral in London in
1588, that the said Hen. Sackford should take place and proceed
with other knights and esquires, officers, and servants to Her High-
ness, in like dignity as his predecessors had done, by accompanying
with bachelor knights, according to the antiquity of that office,
viz, with Mr. J ohn F01tescue now knight and one of the any
Councll then Master of the Wmdmbe John Ashley, master of the
Jewel House, Sir Owen Hopton, lieutenant of the Tower, Sir Robt.
Constable, lieutenant of the Ordnance, and Mr. Hen. Tilney, master
of the Revels. With an escutecheon in pencil.  [Copy, 1 page. ]

87. The Council to the Lord Mayor and aldermen of London. Her
Majesty granted to John Spilman, her servant, a special licence for
making paper,and collecting stufl necessary, with restraint to all others
from using the same. Nevertheless he has informed us that by an
Act of Common Council, you have ordered many things touching
the gathering of rags, &e. prejudicial to his grant, and contrary to
Her Majesty’s intent, who in regard of his extraordinary charge and
trouble in first devising that m in England, &e. be%towed that
benefit upon him, which he Dbas quietly enjoyed almost 14 years,
without disturbance until lately, when by occasion of an offer of
benefit made by another to the city, for the sole collecting of rags,
&c., you have not only resisted him in his privilege, but forbidden
him the use of the same within the city and liberties, except he will
come to some composition with you for it. We require you to have
a just regard of Her Majesty’s grant, and not to suffer, for any trifle
or benefit to the city, her letters patent to be so dishonoured and
abused, which would be a great indignity to herself, but rather
assist Mr. Spilman for the due execution thereof, [Copy, 1 page.]

88. Sir Wm. Rider, Lord Mayor, and nine aldermen of London,
to the Privy Council. By your letter on behalf of Mr. Spilman, it
appears that he has complained to you of wrong in not being suffered
to collect stuff within this city necessary for making paper, for
which he has a special licence, with restraint to others to use the
same. Touching Her Majesty’s letters patent, we would yield to them
all due reverence, but as Spilman, under colonr of his said lcence,
began to offer wrong to the charters of this city, by authorizing
Great numbers of poor people, especially gitls and vagrant women,
to collect rags, &e., within this city and liberties, w ho under pre-
tence of that scr vice, ranged abroad in every street, begging at
men’s doors, whereby the dlsuphne of this city was weakened (the
said poor people sometimes assaying to steal small things from houses
and stalls) ; and thinking it more convenient for this city, in the
gathering of such refuse stuff, to employ rather our own poor, other-
wise idle, it was thought meet by a Common Council to take order
that none should be suffered to walk abroad for collecting such stuff’
unless licensed by the Governors of Bridewell for the benefit of that
house, the charge whereof is far greater than the revenue that belongs
to it.
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As for Mr. Spilman’s information, that is an error; for others
before him have performed the same, and erected paper mills at
Osterby, near this city, at Cambridge, Worcestershire, &e.

We will rather further than hinder his enjoying Her Highness’s
grant without the liherties of the city, so we hope you will think it
meet that being charged with so great a number of poor people, we
may be permitted to use this and all other good and lawful means
towards their relief, and not suffer the same to be encroached upon
nor carried away by any other, especially one of a foreign country.

[2 pages.]

89. Abraham Colfe, prisoner, to See. Cecil. Like Icarus, I have
indiscreetly ventured to fly with the wings of my contemplation
above the clouds, to view the planets, and among the rest, the late
Earl of Essex (who, before his light was eclipsed by his last enormous
trespass, seemed to my eyes to shine like the sun in his height)
when the art whereby I composed the wings of my speech was dis-
covered, and I fell backwards into this sea of miseries, where my
thoughts, like raging storms, toss me on all sides ; unless you lend a
helping hand I am lost, as my own handwriting reveals my offence.

I thought to praise the virtues of the Earl, and darkly to point
at his death under the history of Cicero, but not to grieve at the
sentence of his condemnation, for I was never yet disloyal to Her
Majesty. I confess that I said he had enemies, some of whom 1
called Piso, Cateline, and Antony, who were enemies of Cicero. Pray
pardon this offence, and make me rather a pattern of mercy than
of justice. My arms have been pinioned with cords for an example
to others; my body has been humbled with many bolts, and my
heart has been ploughed up with sorrow, and the furrows thereof
overwhelmed with tears. [1 page.]

90. Directions [for Catholics] as to the lawful manner of answering
certain questions as to going to church or doing other religious actions,
1. These questlom buno religious, & man should not give an
answer dishonouralle to Cod, as say ing he goes to church 1, Te-
ccives [the Sacrament], cr has service, because he goes to Paul’s,
1ecerves his rents, or has service of his men.

2. The quektlonc. of going to church and rcceiving the Sacra-
ment are to be understood as referring to the English Chur ch, there
being no churches of Catholics in England, and should not be
answered of going to any Cathclic service abroad.

3. If there were heretic as well as Catholic churches, then a
Catholic if asked might say Lie had been at church.

4. A Catholic may say that he does not go to echurch, but has
service at home, and receives at Easter (but without using the
word communion), these things being common to both religions.

5. In such case, care should be taken to avoid scandal, when a
man is known to be a Catholic. Sometimes a man is bound to
confess his faith, especially before a magistrate, where greater
consideration is mqulred than before snnple men.
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6. If there be no danger of scandal, when the churchwardens
go round pro formd to inquire who go to church, though it is not
lawful to equivocate, or seem to promise to go, they may be
eluded, as by saying, “Think you that I will live like an Atheist ¢’
¢ If I receive not in this place, I hope I shall in another” My
master has need of my continual attendance.” “I may hear
service at home, or go to 20 churches,” &e.

7. As in moral matters there cannot be certainty, it suffices to
follow a probable opinion, being neither too bold nor too scrupu-
lous, doing nothing offensive, as the practice of good men is of
great moment. This is most true in the obligation of affirma-
tive precepts which bind for time and place; but as it is hard to
hit the time and place, an error committed is not mortal, unless
there be an express denial of faith, [Copy, 23 pages.]

91. John Chamberlain to Dud. Carleton, at the Hague. I write
in haste, having short warning of my Lord of Northumberland’s
departure. When it was said Mr. Cecil should go as ambassador
lieger to France, Lytton went to him to make your way, but he,
Mr Bodley, Sir Robt. Sydney, Sir Edw. Wotton, Sir Thos. Parry,
Sir Ant. Mildmay, and others have all refused to go, so it is doubted
whether any will be sent. Meanwhile Mr. Winwood supplies the
place, and has the Queen’s letters to the French King for his cre-
dence. Sir Harry Nevill is in the Tower, but the term havin
past without any arraignment, probably no more blood will be
spilt in that cause, especially as there is a commission to some
of the Council, to fine the lords and gentlemen who were in the
action ; they have rated Rutland at 30,0007, Bedford, at 20,0007,
Sandys, at 10,000/, Monteagle at 8,060L, and Cromwell at 6,000
Catesby at 4,000 marks, Tresham at 3,000 marks, Percies and
Manners at 5000, and 500 marks, &e. &e. Masham does not yet
know his punishment.

The Earl of Derby and Lord Burghley were installed Knights
of the Garter yesterday at Windsor. The Earl of Marr went
away last week ; he is thought a courtly and well-advised gen-
tleman. Lord Zouch is come from Guernsey; I believe he is to
go as ambassador to Scotland. The Russian ambassador took
leave on Sunday week like a dancing bear, and is gone home-
ward. The Spaniards have taken of our Turkey merchants a ship
from the Levant, worth 40,000, There is a commission for a new
sale of the Queen’s lands. Lord Cobham has married Lady Kildare.

Lately 15 or 16 youths of good houses have been taken going over
to the seminaries. Ant. Bacon has died so deep in debt that his
brother [Fras. Bacon] is little the better by him, Sir Edw. Norris
is dangerously ill ; he was making money by all possible means, as if
intending some great enterprize or purchase. Young Lady Compton
has a son, but her father [Sir John Spencer] does not relent a whit.
Private news. Mr. Edmondes has married the only daughter of
Wood, a clerk of the Signet. [2 pages. Printed in Chamber-
lain’s Letters, pp. 107-110.]
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92. Sir John Gilbert to Cecil. There have 11 galleys lately gone

Plymouth Fort. into the Groyne. Capt. Amadis, just returned from the coast of
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Spain, hardly escaped them. I was told that 30 or 40 ships were
ready at Lisbon for the Groyne, bound some say for Ireland, but I
think, because of the stay of the Dunkirkers in that place, that they
are bound for the Low Countries to the Archduke, and so pass
through our channel. [} page.]

93. Order in Council,—on complaint by Edw. Darcy, groom of
the Privy Chamber, of merchants secretly importing playing cards,
contrary to his patent of the sole benefit thereof, and of haber-
dashers, grocers, chandlers, &c. selling the same, and of disobedience of
former Council orders for redress thereof,—requiring all magistrates,
and officers of justice and of customs, to summon delinquents before
them, and cause them to enter into sufficient bonds for refraining
from the same in future. Also as some dealers keep licensed cards
in their windows and shops, and have stores of unlicensed ones in
houses near, such places are to be searched, and the cards seized and
delivered to the patentee. Also prohibition to any to sell in future
the cards sealed with the seal of Ralph Bowes, the last patentee, or
any bnt those with the seal of Edw. Darcy. All who refuse obe-
dience to be delivered to a messenger of the chamber, and brought
before Council, or to enter bonds for their appearance. [3 pages.]

94. R. Williams to Lord Cobham. As your clerk of the kitchen
is sending up money to pay your servants’ wages there, &ec. I
inform you that I find this place much out of order, and in my
opinion there is no better way of reformation than to provide new
officers and servants, and have their doings examined at least every
guarter. Simondson the carpenter and Hutchins the joiner have
now entered into work. We have bargained with Jellies de Whitt
for making two chimney pieces for the two chambers next to
your new chapel. He demands 65/ for both; I will not give above
500, and he will accept it in the end rather than fail. T have been
in some of the woods to-day, and mean to go to Lowells to-morrow
and so come home through the rest, but we lack a gelding, as, with
the exception of those for your own saddle, there are none that will
carry aman two or three miles without tiring. I should presume
to beg one or two of yours to do you better service, but that your
store is small, and your giving to others liberal. [1L pages.]

95. « Avticles for reformation of abuses committed in the straining
of such kersies and cloths as are vented in France” By the 20th
section of the Act of 39 Eliz. it is directed that all tenters on the
north side the Trent shall be pulled down, so as to take away the
great abuses committed in the stretching and straining kersies,
doezens, and cottons, and in pursuance thereof, the Council has
written sundry times to the justices of peace in Lancashire and
Yorkshire, but the Act has never been put into execution, and
cloth comes to market rather worse than better.
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The French ambassador has got that and other Statutes put into
French, and sent over, so for avoiding the execution of our own
laws in France, it is needful that some reformation be had, or we
shall be banished from bringing any cloth into France.

We ask that two honest men may have the visiting of all such
kettlelisted kersies, northern dozens, and cottons, and try them,
both by weight, length, and by water, seal those they find good,
and exact the penalty for those that are not; that no man shall sell
his cloth before such visitation, and no one buy it before it has been
so viewed and sealed, on pain of losing it. [% page.]

96. Names of Commissioners appointed for sale of Crown lands
in 31, 41 & 43 Eliz, viz., 21 Oct. 1589, 18 Feb. 1599, and 20 May
1601. [1 page.]

97. Report of Sir Rich. Martin and 11 other commissioners
appointed by the Queen, on nomination of Lord Keeper Egerton
and Lord Treas. Buckhurst, to inquire concerning the preservation
and augmentation of the wealth of the realm ; addressed to Council.

We were charged to search out the cause of the large export of
the treasure of this realm, and the not so ample import thereof as
in times past, and to consider of remedies. We think the causes
are—1. The overheaviness of our pound weight troy, being heavier
by 3 dwts. than that of other countries. 2. The over richness of
the monies of this realm, and the under valuation in comparison to
other countries. 3. The disproportion of the value of our gold to
our silver, in respect of other countries adjoining to us. 4. The
overbalancing of foreign commodities imported above our home
commodities vented out. 5. The abuse of the exchange between
us and other nations. 6. The not making of a number of foreign
commodities within this realm, having opportunities for so doing.

We find the difference of weight, finish, valuation, and dispro-
portion would not be of themselves true causes, if there were a
due course holden in the exchange of money between country and
country. As we wished to know the due course of exchange,
especially between us and the Low Countries, we examined a pro-
clamation of the States of the Low Countries of 1586, for the
valuation of money to be current in exchange, and find there is not
a full regard had of the difference of the pound weight troy and
richness of our standard, which holds 11 oz, 2 dwts. of fine silver,
and which is supposed to have been the ancient standard of England ;
but if the standard be taken according to the monies lately made,
then their valuation in exchange by the proclamation differs from
ours 2 dwts,, or 63d. in every pound. It is also thought that the
proportion used between the value of our fine gold and silver, being
11 to 1, is unequal to that in other countries, being 12 to 1, and
that in exchange there should be due regard had thereof; but some
allege there is no such inequality between us aud the Low Countries,
Germany, and France, with whom we have most dealings.

As to the overbalancing of imports, the abuse of the exchange,

- the excessive use of foreign commodities, and the not making of
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them here :—Some of us attribute the great scarcity of gold and
silver to the overbalancing of foreign commodities, others partly to
the exchange of monies having now become a common trade, and
partly to the traffic used to Turkey, whither our monies are trans-
ported, which will be much increased by the intended voyage to the
West Indies, to which place it is thought that our monies will be
carried in the nature of bullion, as that will make a better return
than any of our home commodities.

Touching the abuse of exchange, which rises and falls acecording
to the plenty or scarcity of money, we find that when the price of
exchange is low here, so that more will be given for our monies
carried in specie than can be had beyond the seas by bill of exchange,
then our monies are transported, and so a low exchange 13 a
canse of transportation of our monies. We also find that the Low
Clountries have lately, contrary to the before-mentioned proclamation,
tolerated the coin of other countries, especially of this realm, to be
current with them, at a hLigher rate tban is expressed in the pro-
clamnation placard or the rate of exchange, by which great cause is
given of exporting the wonies of this realm, and especially our gold.
This is increased both by the excessive bringing in of foreign
commodities, and the not making those commodities within this
realm.

It is also thought that by this abuse of the exchange, exports will
decrease and imports will increase,

Therefore for remedy ; first of the abuse of the States of the said
United provinces, some of us think the readiest way would be for
Her Majesty to appoint some men of judgment in mint and exchange
to confer with the States as to a speedy reformation, and if they
will not agree for her to appoint merchant commissioners to devise
such a rate of exchange of monies, to be observed upon penalty of
every merchant, as may neither give just cause of offence to the
Low Countries, nor breed any mischief in traflic.

Others of us think that any such admonition will be to small
purpose, considering the States plainly set down in their said pro-
clamation that the reformation thereof is not in their power, and
also think it not convenient for them so to do, so long as the
countries are separated ; therefore they think that the exchange for
all places being kept at a certainty, according to the value of the
coin current, and established with due consideration to prevent
inconveniences, is the fittest way of reformation.

For the redress of the excessive import of foreign commodities,
we think that the due execution of the statute of employments for
strangers, together with some good laws for restraint thereof, should
be put in execution, and good examples in forbearing the excessive
use of foreign commodities would be a ready means thereto.

Lastly, that some means might be devised to set to work our
own people to make some of those foreign commodities, the realm
affording matter and stufl’ fit for them, whereby not only the over-
abundant imports will abate, but a great number of our people, who
now live either idle or by begging, will be set to work. [Copy, 3%
pages.]
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98. Petition of Garter Principal King-of-Arms to the Council.
Was lately with certain gentlemen near Temple Bar, London, when
Serjeant John Hele came riding after him on horseback, faster than
was convenient or lawful, and pressed so near to petitioner that he
was in danger of being hurt; was forced to say, ¢ Softly, will you
vide over me ?”  Hele answered, “ It is no great matter to ride over
an asg ; thou fool, thou ass,” and so reiterating these words in the
audience of many, he rode on fast, leaving those and many other
reproaches DLy him uttered a perpetual imputation, to petitioner’s
diseredit and undoing, unless your Lordships punish the same.

Has held the office of Garter 38 years, and been employed in
France, Germany, Italy, and in the late service, to the great hazard
of his life.  Mr. Hele has fov the last 10 years discredited him, as
ab the assizes at Exeter, calling his testimonials for mabters of arms,
under the ancient seal of his office of Garter, testimonials for vaga-
bonds; the seal like a pardoner’s seal; and his hand and certificate
of no credit, but like that of a paltry constable, for vagabonds to beg
with.

Mr. Hele .is a man of wealth and boldness, and a serjeant-at-law,
and still seeks all advantage against petitioner. Begs that his
witnesses, Mr. Robt. Cotton, of Connington and My, Morgan, of the
Middle Temple, counsellor-at-law, and his proofs may be produced, and
Mr. Hele commanded to appear before their Lordships, for the credit
and quiet of petitioner, whom their Lordships, and the Knights o
the Garter are bound to defend. Is by birthright a gentleman of
name and arms, son and heir of a knight, which Mr. Hele cannot
challenge, whose parents of late and himself have taken, chopped,
changed, and unlawfully purchased a new coat of arms, neithec
seen nor allowed by the officers of arms. [1 paye, duniuged.]

99, Answer of Serjeant llele to the said petition. 1 do not
remember how I reined my horse, it being about half a year since.
Coming from Westminster, when near St. Clement’s Chureh, wy
gelding was stricken with a rod, whereby I was like to have heen
unhorsed, and looking who it was, 1 perceived it was done by
My Garter. I asked Lim what Le meant, when he answered © Wilt
thou ride upon me ?” I answered, ¢ I do not use to ride upon an
ass,” and it may be that I reiterated the same, and so departed. {
do not remember what I said at the assizes 10 years since, but 1
spake no more than T had reason to do for my client. Seven or
eight years since, Garter exhibited a petition to the Earl of Not-
tingham and the then Lord Chamberlain, which I answered, aund
their Lordships were satisfied. In saying that my parents and
myself have unlawfully purchased a new coat of arms, he does me
great wrong, and I pray you to leave me to my lawful means to
discharge myself of this imputation. [# page, much damaged.]

100. Copy of the above petition and reply, made before the
damages, from which several blanks have been filledup. [2 puges.]
6. D
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101. Thomas Brett to his father Stephen Brett, of Woodchurch.
E\*precssions of duty and affection; a journey and traffic into
Turkey. This journey is approved by all.  [1 page, damaged.]

102. Sir John Gilhert to Cecil.  Isend up Capt. Amadis as ordered.

Plymouth Fort. Aythur Middleton, who came from the North Cape on Saturday, was

June 9.

Westminster.

June U,

June 9.

June 10.]

June 10,
Lothibury,

June 12,

chased 20 leagues from shore by seven ships; two galleys lie at
the Borlings to guard the coast, and seven more passed northward.
A ship, come in 11 days from Snam, says that in Sisember Road,
they h(,aul nothing of” any preparations ; she came to the Groync,
bﬂt neither saw nor heard of galleys there. She reports a great
vlague to be in divers parts of Spain, and in the Indian fleet, out-
ward bound, so that they would net allow them to anchor at Cadiz.
Contrary winds forced them into the Straits’ mouth, and they pro-
ceeded on their voyage very weak., Having seen this ship just
returned, I thcug;w 1t not needful to take up 2 pinnace, as ordered
by the Lord Admiral, and send it to Brest, to discover what galleys
passed.
P.5—T hear that 30 English gentlemen, who fled from London
into 3 upum in this Iate rebellion, have arrived at Lisbon, [1 page.]

3. Writ of protection for Thos. Heton, of Southampton, employed
in iior Majesty’s service beyond seas, and his sureties, with their
lands, goods, and chattels, from all suits for debt or other causes,
tronson, felony, S excepted.  Endorsed, “ Protection for Thos.
Heton, Sept. 160 2.7 [ Draft, 1 sheet.]

104. uedamtgon by Wm. Masham of his plOCLQ.ﬁ g3 on Sunday,
Feb. 8, when the Earl of Essex went into the city ; being to the
sa

:me effect as bis declaration of Feb. 10 M. [2 paJe... See 1oL
COLXXVIIL, No. 45.] Also,

105, Confession of Wi Masham before Att. Gen. Coke. Has tra-
velled in all parts of Christendom.  Twelve years since, served the
Earl of Essex for 1} vears. Accidentally fell into his company in
Clracious Streeb on 8 Feb. last.  Came to sec what the matter was,
by reason of a report that the Earl was in danger of his life; drew
N0 8% ,Oxu, departed as soon as he heard of the procl amatwn, and
was in his chamber before one o'clock. [4 page.]

¥
29
iy
Ty

166, Account of the fines imposed upon 38 noblemen and
gentlemen named, for taking part in the Earl of Hssex’s rebellion.
With notes of mmg,htion in some of the sums. [11 pages.]

107. Jael, Lady XKilligrew, to Thos. Windebank., Thanks for
your favour to me. I send vou the letter of naturalization, which
my husband would have brought, but he is ill. [ page, French.]

108, [Thes. Windebank] to Lady Killigrew. I have presented to

. Her Majesty the letter to make you an Lnghsh lady, and she has

signed it quickly, and with many gracious words. Receive it as the
point of my fiiendship, and a tribute to your virtues. As you may
never have seen the Queen’s hand, T send it you for assurance, but
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you must return it to me to pass the Seals. When your husband’s
health pemmts he should thank the Queen in person. [Drafi,
French, % page.]  Also,

Note of confirmation of a discharge, forreerly granted by patent

to the town and university of Cambridge, of 1mmumty from pay-
ment of subsidies.

109. Thos. Phelippes to Lord Cobham. I sent Salisbury with your

]D{““ov ﬁﬂ(; one nf meo QWn +(\ mvy T.avd of Tandan n“ Tnlham T4
L vY Ui s AU

ii, RO NG [S23404CIEYN L Aann.,

seems he has a conceit of some ill-dealing or juggling in this pursuit
of Johnson’s liberty, and having answered your letter, means to have
further talk with you when he meets you. I was never deceived in
my opinion of his Lordship. I hold it an injury that he should
conceive basely of me. Pray satisfy him as to what you know of
me, but do not acquaint him with the matters unless he would use
them better than I think he will.

Being transported with choler, he makes it strange that I should
use a man whose name I knew not. The truth is, I wished not to
know his name, and what is that to the matter? Pray press to
know what the matters of state be that his Lordship can charge him
with, that you may judge of my Lord Bishop’s course.

I found Mr. Waad disgusted With dealing in anything, whom Mr.
Secretary gave order to see the party uecd I give them that will
leave to meddle any further, The service they do in detaining him
will not be worth a rush to that I could have done by his hbeltv
Pray maintain my reputation against these injurious surmises of my

Lord Bishop. [£ page.]

110. Dr. John Jegon, Vice-Chancellor, to Secretary Ceeil.  Thanks
for your love and youwr manifold favours to this University and to
myself. T deem it a token of your justice that by your means I have
leave to answer for myself in unjust caluminations. Remember
what envy men of government incur, and what malice bad men
conceive against well-doing. For the accusations of Thos. Crayford
(to omit his outrageous practices, in his desperate estate for debt) 1
have truly made answer. Pmy let him feel what it is unjustly to
challenge an officer of my plac a course of late so incident to our
insolent and malicious towxmnen that unless some exemplary dis-
cipline prevent, university governors must have no joy in their juris-
diction. Some of the town, since the last ] nemmg, have charged you
and others with partiality. [ page] FEicloses,

110. 1. Complaints of Thos. Crayford against the procesdings of
the University of Cawmbridge, with the Vice-Clhancellor,

Dy, Johm Jegow’s, veplies thereto :—
1. Crayford wwas amerced 5s. in the proctor’s leet in
Caribridge, for drvessing flesh on prolibited days, jor
which fine his house was entered by force, his goods
taken, and his avife beaten and wounded, so that she
langwished « long time and died; the money never

having been demanded of him.
D 2
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Ans. Thos. Crayford, innkeeper and balker, wus
aineirced for dc/ec(‘s i the assize of bread, fu JOtQ hay,
e, for ahich 5z 1he known officer, after demands Jfoi-
mally made, coming peccenbly tato Lis house, distrained
a brass pot ;. whereupon Crayford, his wife, and son
Joln violently set wpon the officer, beat him, and pull-
2y holf Iis beard off, and Lis mace out of his hand,
cast it into the channel and rescued the distress. None
avere bealen or huvt suve the officer, and the wife Lived
move than thiee yewrs after this was done.

2. Orayford, for rescwing his wife, was arrested and
amprisoned, and isswed in the Vice-Chancellor’s count,
Cambiridge.

Ans. He, Lis wife, and son were sued for the rescue
and violence to the officer, and the case was veferved to
arbitrators, awho have ordered the matter,

3. Dv. Jegon re-entered and forfeited a lease awhich

Crayford held of the Muaster and fellows of Corpus
Christy College for 5s, parcel of the wvent unpaid,
without the privity of the Jellows, although he owed
Crayford 12s., and the college 121.

Ans. There was ve-entry made by the Master and
Jellows for non-payment of vent and want of repair.
Dy, Jmon, never owed Crayford money; and as to the
college, ke had Lis money beforeliand, to make provision
Jor the bread he delivered.

4. Crayford was assaulted and beaten in his house
by tiwo strangers and one Benj. Prynne, whom the
Vice-Chancellor had substituted to trail lim to prison,
without any known cause.

Amns. The Vice-Clhancellor never knew of any such
Jact, and believes it to be a slander.

5. Dr. Jegon wrongfully awithlholds from Crayford
certain wainscol, valued «f 101, which he bought and
paid for.

Ans. The plaintifp is jorbidden to pull down or sell
certain wainscot which has been anciently demised
by the Master and fellows, with a tenement, and to
which he makes cluim ; the challenge is otherwise utterly
wnliue.

6. Crayford has puwned a lewse, the main of his
estate, which Le huas no mceans to redeem save by the
sule of certain leases ke Nolds of Dr. Jegon, and the
college achereof he is master, the sale of which Dr.
Jegon withstands, and has dealt with the gentleman to
whom he has pawned it to purchase his disfavour
towards L.

Ans. Crayford Lolds no lease of Dr. Jegon or the
co'lege, but Jolm Crayford, son to Thomas, holds @
teieinent of the college by lease, which he has not re-
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paived according to a proviso therein expressed, wherve-
wpon the Master denied the olienation wuntil it is
repaired according to covenant. The rest of the avticle
8 wntrue.

7. Dr. Jegon standing in Lis window, saw his man
crush Thos. Crayford’s daughter belind o door, and
she shortly afterwards miscarvied, and e belng ve-
quired for justice thervein, refused it.

Amns. Never saaw nov heard anything of the matler.
[2 pages.] June 14, 1601.

111, [Serjt.] John Hele to Lord Cobham. Touching your
motion to me, I refer myself entirely to you and Sec. Cecil. I
will not be so unthankful to so gracious a Sovereign, but protest
unto her my loyalty and respect for her gracious favour with a
jewel of some 3000 or 4000, [% page.]

112. Decree of Lord Treas. Buckhurst, Sir John Fortescue, Siv
Wm. Periam, Lord Chief Baron, and the rest of the Barons of the
Exchequer,—in a suit in which Thos. Duckett, Jas. Briggs, Wm.
Cocke, and Godfrey Shawe, veomen, tenants, and copyholders, of
Her Majesty’s manor of Bulwell, co. Notts,, are plaintiffs, and Siv
John Byron of Newstead, co. Notts.,, Thos. Smith and John Morrell
are defendants,—that the complainants and all other copyholders
and inhabitants of the manor shall Lenceforth peaceably enjoy their
right of common in the pasture ground called Bulwell Moor, against
the said Sir John Byron and all others claiming under him, until
he can show better title to the same.  [Copy, 13 sheets, damaged.]

113. Sir John Gilbert to See. Cecil. I send a copy of a letter
from the mayor of Totness to the Viece-Admiral, about preparations
in Lisbon. [{ page] FEicloses,

113. 1 Nich. Goodridge, mayor of Totness, to Chyis. Harvis. T
have token up « fellow awho came from Lisbon seven
weels ago, landed af Hythe, and Las come along the sea-
coust, going for Saltash., e speaks of « fleet of 15,000
soldiers, 5,000 being Italicn, ready in Lisbon for England
or Irvdland, when the Adelantado comes. I send Lin up,
as he has o brother in Ostend. [ page.]

Totness, June 19, 1601,

114, Sir John Gilbert to Sec. Cecil. I find on examination of
John Enthart, master of the Black Heart, of Amsterdam, that his
ship was taken by the galleys in the trade, very near Ostend. He
advertised thereof Capt. Treaver, whom hemet in one of the Queen’s
ships at the Isle of Wight, but the ship escaped as two Dutch
men-of-war in the Narrow Seas were chasing the Dunkirkers, and
the galleys stood to sea. The company were chiefly Italians,
[1 page.]

115. Jael, Lady Killigrew, to Thos. Windebank, at Cowt. T
should not have so long delayed my reply, but I was waiting for a
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messenger who sharing the favour, would have supplied my defects
in acknowledging it; but he is still too ill to follow your counsel.
Aceept my simple thanks for the undeserved favour received through
you from this great princess, the pheenix of the world, whose
gracious hand has joined my body to my heart and aﬁ'eetzon%
which have long been her humble subjects. This being the

" greatest ha,ppiness that could come to me in the world, do not

measure my thanks by my words.
P.S.—Mrs. Neville and my daughter Seymour send remembrances.
[French, 1 page.)

116. Grantto Sir George More of the office of one of the chamber-
lains of receipt of the Exchequer, in place of Sir Wm. More his father,
lately deceased. [Latin, copy, 2 sheets, much damaged.]

117. Note of new injuries offered by the town of Cambridge to
the University there.

Stephen Payne, keeper of the Tolbooth, being commanded by the
Vice-Chancellor, through the beadle, to enlarge Overhea,d committed
for debt, refuses to do so untll the Vice-Chancellor sends command
in writing.

Janes Robson, alderman, detains the horse of the university
beadle, for a trespass pretended to be done in the field, refusing
reasonable satisfaction ; and being commanded by the Vice-Chancellor
to declare his griefs against the beadle, so that he might have his
remedy at law, he renounced the jurisdiction of the Vice-Chancellor,
?nd sald that he had a pawn (meaning the horse), which satisfied
1.

Thomas Robson, son of the said alderman, often punished for
breach of the peace and quarrelling, was committed by the Vice-
Chancellor to the Tolbooth, for bloodshed and violence upon a pri-
vileged person, until he had paid 4s. 4d., and tendered security for
his better behaviour; but he was ca.rried out by John Payne,
and enlarged by the now mayor. Payne, committed to the castle in
Lent, upon just cause, enlarged himself; and now, after a night’s
commitment for contempt of the Vice-Chancellor’s command about
Robson’s safe custody, he refuses to be enlarged without the Vice-
Chancellor’s warrant in writing.

William Orton alias Andrewes, late bailiff’ of the town, and now a
burgess, selling sea coals in the fair by a bushel found defective by
the Vice-Chancellor, resisted the officer’s reformation thereof; and
the bushel being broken, and he commanded upon his peril not to
use false measures, still mutinously resists reformation thereof.

This fair day, before the accustomed time, the mayor proclaimed
himself chief governor in the fair, whereas heretofore it was wont to
be the mayor one of the chief governors, and the chancellor one.
[13 pages.}

118. Affidavit by Dr. John Jegon, Vice-Chancellor of Cambridge,
Humphrey Tyndall, and Thos. Nevile, relative to alderman Jas.
Robson’s taking and detaining the horse of the beadle, as stated
above. [§ pa J(’]
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119. Bec. Cecil to [Thos. Windebank]. Although I love not to
commend any churchmen that promise crowns for their preferment,
T must recommend persons of integrity and merit. Dr. Jegon has
been several times chosen Viece-Chancellor of Cambridge, twice in
my father’s time, and twice since; he is learned, of good govern-
ment, desires no preferment, and is therefore fit to be called. I moved
Her Majesty for him at Whitehall, for the deanery of Norwich,
which Mr. Dove has left ; my Lord of Canterbury also earncstly
spoke for him. Pray move Her Majesty for him, both for her
service, his desert, and my credit, as I have used him in divers
public services, and will in more, for he is capable of direction, and
in that place may do good service. Itis a populous town, full of
strangers, and of their resort caution iz to be had, and use may be
made. Theliving is small, and few suitors. [1 page, holograph.]

120. John Guevara to See. Cecil. T have to report the saddest
aceident that could betide me. Lord Willoughby is no more. When
he saw he must go, he said, “ I wish my soul might never enjoy the
blessings of the heavenly light if ever my heart were other to my
sacred ancinted Queen than truly or sincerely faithful, or it T ever,
even in my thoughts, gave just cause to offend her. Whatsoever evil
the wicked harpies of the world have shrieked ount to my prejudice,
God forgive them; and let Mr. Secvetary (that most honourable
gentleman) believe me (for I speak the truth in Christ), my heart
long since has been with him, as David’s was with Jonathan; and
if time aud oceasion would have made me so happy as to witness it
in my life, I should have enjoyed great contentment therein; but
now I can do nothing but speak, I recommend to him my eldest
son, and I beseech him satisfy my desiring soul in his honourable
care of him.” Then calling for his will, he bade me see your name
written therein as the only supervisor.

I must put you in mind of the wardeunry, in which I was his
deputy, as the bills are now a-swearing, and the days of time agreed
on, both in the East and Middle Marches. [£ page.]

121. Note that the Earl of Bedford having been fined 10,060/,
and urged to make speedy payment, desives that Her Majesty will
accept 2,000/, at the signing of his pardon, 2,000 next Michaelnas
term, and 6,000/ at Michaelmas 1602 ; and to enable him to
perform these payments, that she will grant him the fee simple of
parsonages impropriate, value (77, and of land value 26L yearly,
whereof the reversion is in Her Majesty, for want of heirs male of
Francis late Earl of Bedford. For securing the fine he will mort-
gage land to her, or procure bonds of his friends. [{ puge.]

122, Thos. Phelippes to Lord Cobham. I send you what came to
hand this last post. Although resolved to wind out of public busi-
ness, unless my reputation and estate were better, I will meanwhile
do you what service I can. A letter also about the jewels I will
bring myself, and hope meanwhile you will not forget to proceed
therein. [{ page.]
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123. Paper endorsed, “The opinion of Serjt. Harris and Mr. Hele,
Mr. Tanfield, and Mr. Diggs, what proceedings are best for Danvers’
escheat for entitling the Queen’s Majesty,” and headed “The re-
solution for my Lord of Oxford’s proceedings,” viz. :

Ist. That the parties now brought up should be examined upon
interrogatories, and if sufficient light is got for the land or for
the evidences, then some order be taken by the Lord Treasurer
for bringing in the evidences.

2ndly. That a bill be exhibited in the Exchequer against all
those that pretend interest in the land, or are suspected of having
any of the evidences.

Jrdly. That a commission be issued to inguire what lands, tene-
ments, goods, &e. Sir Chas. Danvers was seized of at his attainder.
({n another hand) John Hodgkinson, Rich. Atwood, clerk, Rich.

Danvers, and Jeffery Bath to be detained for embezzling goeds,
vadue 1,000/, and for conveying away evidences, besides many other
misdemeanors already delivered in articles to be proved by wit-
nesses, with note of the names of the witnesses, and request that
their examinations may be seen before they are discharged.

With note by Lord Treasurer Buckhurst, June 30, that the
Queen’s Counsel are to consider and set down what course is best for
Her Majesty. [# page.]

124, Statement by G. Lisle.  Not long after the Earl of Essex
was committed to the custody of the Lord Keeper, the Countess his
wife delivered a casket of letters to John Daniell’s wife, who had
served her as a gentlewoman, willing her to keep them safe until
she called for them ; two or three months after, the Countess sent
for the casket, and upon opening it, found most of the letters mis-
sing; whereupon she sent for Mys. Daniell, who with her husband
utterly denied that they knew what was become of them, Daniell
sometimes saying that he suspected a maid that his wife had
lately put away, and that he would find her, and have her examined.

At last he wrote to the Countess, stating that Le had certain
lebbers of hers that it behoved her to be careful of, and that if she
would consider his necessities, they should be restored. Was sent
several times to intreat him to restore them, with general promises
of relief, but he would not part with them, and demanded 3,000,
which her Ladyship being herself unable to make, yet jealous lest
Ler husband should know that she had lost his letters, although she
protests there was nothing in them that might touch him, even in
the worst construction, she could take no rest until she had re-
deemed them, and therefore resolved to sell her jewels, rather than
leave them in so unhonest a man’s hands. She thus made up
1,7200, and sent it to him, when the letters were restored, he
taking an oath that he delivered all he had, and that no man had
seen them.

Some two months after, one Ferryman, came to my lady, and told
her that Daniell had been divers times with one Bales, a serivener,
and he doubted with some ill intent to my Lord of Essex, though
he called himself his man; and subsequently Ferryman brought
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Bales to my lady, with a declaration in writing of Daniell’s
proceedings, which he subscribed in the presence of le1r3 man and
this deponent. {1 puge.]

125. John Dodd to IMr. Daniell, at Hackney. T delivered the
etter to Mr. Marbury, who de]nued it to my Lord Keeper, and
brought answer that Mr. Daniell should have his request, and that
my Lord had given the letter to Mr. Downall, his secretzu’y, so as to
remember him of it at the Star Chamber next morning.  Lindorsed
[by Daniell] < Brief of the censure, with some thmos touching
Mr. Bales.” [1 page.]

126. Proceedings in the Star Chamber. John Daniell, of Dares-
bury Hall, Chester, prisoner in the Gatehouse, was brought to the
bar at the suit of Attorney-General Coke. [The pussages in brackets
are marginal notes in Daniel’s hand. ]

The information on his own confession was that 12 months since,
when the late Earl of Essex was confined at the Lord Keepers
house for very heinous misdemeanors, his countess [joir fewsr her
Louse should be searched] gave a casket of letters, sent to her by
her husband before and after their marriage [containing matlers of
disloyalty and conteinpt against fes [(/Junj/ peison], to Jaue
the wife of the prisoner Daniell, Who bhad heen the Countess
centlewoman, which casket she was to keep until it was asked for
Daniell, finding the casket under his bed, secretly opened it, [this
eaouseth mywife], and took out 20 or 50 letters, intending to make
gain thereof. [No such purpose, but wishing to discover and revenl
matters of state, from whicl he was prevented by some that escaped
unpunished.] He took them to Peter Bales, a scrivener, to make
copies and counterfeits of them [this Le did in order to read thein
better ; there were 30, und only 6 brought to Bales], pretending he
had been sent by the Countess, and while Bales was making the
copies, the prisoner dictated, blamed Bales for not imitating the
Earl’s hand better, [done by great pains and Bales” Lelp in reading
them] and corrupted some of them, by adding and forging matter
in his reading [the words “the Queen’s commandment, &e.” were
then shown, to be resolved if theywere matters of state].

Subsequently the Countess sent for the casket, and missing many
of the letters, she weut to Daniell’s house [¢ month before Bules Enew
of the letters], and being greatly perplexed lest the Earl might con-
ceive some dislike against her, for carelessly suffering his lono and
passionate love- letters to be divulged and spread abroad [the Tetters
of scerecy were kept wnost secrelly, which wus iy overthiow], she
questioned the prisoner and his wife about them, who denied having
them [the letfers awere not denied but detained for muatters of state],
and the prisoner used very discourtecus speeches [no such anatters
nor speeches spoken on neither part], and seemed offended with his
wife for keeping the casket without his privity ; but they being
informed by the Countess that the letters were uneither of im-
portance nor dangerous to the state, nor to any particular person,
| bothe which was then wnkinown, and thevefore he desiied to be tiruly
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resolved], but that the loss thereof troubled her, for the before-
mentioned reasons, the prisoner pretended he would use his utmost
endeavours to find them, and shortly after wrote the Countess
[she first wrote to his wife and sent divers messuges], confessing
that he had them, and that as they might greatly concern her Lord,
it behoved her to be careful to regain them, but that he had become
very much impoverished and decayed of late, and had only about
3,0004. during his service with the Earl, and that upon some
honourable consideration of his necessity, he would restore them
[she ojfered 1,0000, before he demanded 3,000L].

~ The Couutess sent one of her servants [Siv Edw. Dyer and Alr. Lyle]
to have the letters 1%1‘1‘1166, and to assure the prisoner that she
would relieve his wants to the best of her ability, but he demanded
3,0007, otherwise ke would not deliver them. The Countess then
Lerself treated with him, but lie would not p‘u't with them unless
she paid him 1,720 [Sz, Ldwe. Dyer inade the contract at the
Cowntess’s ‘cgvc%] he alleging thut if he carried them to Lord
Cobham and Sir Walter haluo}) they would give him 3,000
for them [no such words] 3 not, having so much money, and
dreading what might arise between her and her husband, she was
forced to sell her Jewels [sold before; borrowed the money of
Lingley, Crumpton, Sir E. Dyer, and Peter Vanderlure], and,
baving made up the 1,720L, she paid it to the prisoner and received
er lotters: but the prisoner, thinking his treacherous and bad
pmctlcu might subsequently come to light, demanded a general
velease from (he Countess and her husband [a release was oﬁercd
before any money paid], so as to prevent any danger that might
ensue.

All this plainly appeared to the Court, both Ly the prisoner’s
writing [not « word of my handwriting about the release] and
his confession [no word confessed, but I cowld have discovered
good mutter, if duly declt with], and he was unable to defend or
L\t nuate his offence [becwuse it lay in watter of proof, and I

was dended both cornsel and proof].  The Court asked if there was
any truth in his speeches touching Lord Cobham and Sir Walter
Raleigh, when he acknowledged them also to be false and slanderous
['nm'c, ﬂcpo:z‘e- 7107 gpoken ?)J me], and that they never offered him
money ; and it also appeared that he had very lately written a
letter to the Countess, containing very scandalous matter, and im-
peaching her of some supposed unkindness towards the late Earl
[she Lnows this to be nost true].  The Attorney General observed
on Daniell’s treachery, being & servant to the late Earl [uo servant
of two years before, but vetived upon just couse of discontent and
wnconstant dealing, Loth by the Earl and Countess], and the time
it was committed against so honourable and virtuous a lady, in
her sorrow for her husband’s fall, that it highly aggravated the
offence.

It also appeared that at the time of the late Earl's arraign-
ment, he pretended that the aforesaid letters had been forged and
counterfeited by his adversaries [the Earl’s letters were tiuly
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written, and not counterfeited, but imitated for the Queen’s
service, from which he awas withdrawn Dby the Covntess and
Ler friends], whereas it now appears to have been done by his
servant, the prisoner, and therefore the imputation which the late
Earl endeavoured to lay upon others was most unjust [he had no
better pretent to cover his treasons, which ut Lis deatl Le confessed
to be fulse imputations, as appeavetl, by My, Barlow’s secrmon,
which proveth that Daniell was made an instrument to excuse
others], and ocught to have bheen imposed upon the priscner, on
whom the Attorney General prayed for some extraordinary and
exemplary punishment [my wijust deserts in seeling to discover
the truth, and meaning to reveal the same to Her Majesty].

The Court, considering the heniousness of the offences, adjudged
the prisoner to pay a fine of 3,600/, to Her Majesty, and be com-
mitted to the Fleet Prison for life. The Court also, pitying the
great wrong and injury, which the Countess had sustained [she Lad
aronged me still more], cleared her from all suspicion of any ill
intention towards her late husband [the effect of her actions have
proved the contrary], and stated that they could testify of their
own knowledge as to her true and honourable regard for him, and
that she did as much 23 was possible for a woman for hLis good
during his imprisonment [after his death she showed wunkindness to
his children], and that she was always reported a most honourable
and virtuous lady. [4 sheets.]

Endorsed is a note from John Daniell to his cousin Daniell,
Jan. 26, 1603-4, near Charing Cross, sending this copy of the Star
Chamber sentence, adding that he never complained of the sentence,
but has a hundred times of his wrongs and oppressions since he was
condemned, which ave as heavy to him as treble the fine.

127. Instructions by the Council to Capt. Cocke.

1. To sail from Plymouth, SS.W. till you come 36 leagues off
Scilly, and there lie in 49 degrees of latitude, as near as wind and
weather will permit, and not to traverse above 10 leagues in
Jongitude, and so continue seven days.

2. To endeavour to discover all ships that pass by, always
keeping two men in the tops of the masts, and good watch in
the night.

3. If you descry a fleet, to come as near as you can, to discover
the course they take, and what they are; and finding they are like
to be enemies, to repair with speed to the nighest place of England,
and give advertisement.

4. To speak with every ship you desery, to get intellicence con-
cerning preparations against any of Her Majesty’s dominions,

5. To advertise all news by any English ship you meet.

6. After the seven days, you are to traverse more towards the
west, in the same latitude, bringing Scilly more EN.E. of you,
and there act as before.

7. If you meet with any Deepers that fish in the Deepes, to
direct them if they discover any enemy, upon pain of death, to
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leave their fishing, and repair to the nearest place of England or
Ireland, and advertise thereof.

8. If in this last place, W.S.W. of Scilly, you discover any
army going for Ireland, notwithstanding the wind being fair to
come for England, you are to repair to the first port of Ireland
that you can attain, and advertise thereof.

9. To spend the full time you are victualled for in the last

traverse, if wind and weather permit, and then return to Plymouth.

11

1601.
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1. The State of England, Anno Domini 1600, by Thomas Wilson,
stating the several claims of